Microba Life Sciences Limited
Appendix 4E
Preliminary final report

1. Company details

Name of entity: Microba Life Sciences Limited
ABN: 82 617 096 652

Reporting period: For the year ended 30 June 2024
Previous period: For the year ended 30 June 2023

2. Results for announcement to the market
$
Revenues from ordinary activities up 123.1% to 12,090,055

Loss from ordinary activities after tax attributable to the owners of Microba
Life Sciences Limited up 57.2% to (19,938,485)

e

oss for the year attributable to the owners of Microba Life Sciences
Eimited up 57.2% to (19,938,485)

inidends

There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current financial period.

omments
he loss for the Group after providing for income tax amounted to $19,938,485 (30 June 2023: $12,680,212).

| use

CB' Net tangible assets

C Reporting Previous
o period period
m Cents Cents
al)ﬂet tangible assets per ordinary security 4.35 10.42

P

4. Control gained over entities

@n 5 December 2023, the Company acquired 100% of the issued share capital in UK registered Invivo Clinical Limited (Invivo)

Lthor a purchase price of $17,536,046. Invivo is a microbiome testing leader for healthcare professionals in the United Kingdom.

vivo has established a base of over 1,700 active customers, and an engaged list of additional 5,800 prospective customers.

In addition to its leading position in Gastrointestinal microbiome testing services, Invivo has testing products spanning Vaginal,
Oral and Urinary testing, together with a targeted set of evidence-based intervention formulations.

5. Loss of control over entities

Not applicable.

6. Dividends

Current period
There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current financial period.

Previous period
There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the previous financial period.
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7. Dividend reinvestment plans

Not applicable.

8. Details of associates and joint venture entities

Not applicable.

9. Foreign entities
Details of origin of accounting standards used in compiling the report:

Not applicable.

—>13. Audit qualification or review
detai/s of audit/review dispute or qualification (if any):

qShe financial statements have been audited and an unmodified opinion has been issued.

31. Attachments
===petails of attachments (if any):

he Annual Report of Microba Life Sciences Limited for the year ended 30 June 2024 is attached.

o

(nz. Signed

O
D

Signed Date: 29 August 2024
-
asquale Rombola
Chair
risbane

Authorised for release by the Board.
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Highlights
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Strong year-on-year growth

e FY24 revenue of $12.09m delivering 123.1% growth on the prior financial
year with Personal Testing & Supplements up 207.8% to $9.46m and
Research Testing up 12% to $2.63m

o Cash receipts totalling $12.48m, representing 96.3% growth on the prior year

e Successful acquisition of United Kingdom microbiome company, Invivo
Clinical which is delivering results aligned to expectations, generating
$4.29m in sales for H2 FY24

* Gastrointestinal Disorder Test, MetaXplore™ grew strongly during FY24
with test sales growing 385% year-on-year since launch in February 2023

o Gastrointestinal Pathogen Test, MetaPanel™, launched nationwide in
Australia with Sonic Healthcare (ASX: SHL) with sales building across all
major states of the Australia

Successful completion of Phase 1 clinical trial for MAP 315,
preparing for Phase 2

¢ Completed on schedule, demonstrating MAP 315 is safe and well tolerated
at both low and high doses

e Preparation for Phase 2 well advanced

Successful completion of world-first autoimmune
therapeutics discovery program with Ginkgo Bioworks

* Generating new therapeutic intellectual property assets with 6 lead strains
demonstrating compelling disease relevant activity

Additional achievements

* Animal model data and immunological data confirm anti-tumour activity
for leads in Immuno-Oncology therapeutic discovery program, and clinical
data and sample set grown to >3,500 patients

» Second Agreement executed with IFF (NYSE: IFF) to develop novel
microbiome-based treatments for multiple forms of Allergy

Company is well funded
e $20.89 million in cash or equivalents at 30 June 2024

« Approximately $6.0m expected from Microba’s FY24 R&D Tax Incentive,
expected to be received in H1 FY25
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Message from the Chair, MiCROBA
Deputy Chair & CEO

Dear Shareholders,

We remain steadfast in our belief that the human gut microbiome represents one of the biggest untapped
opportunities to improve human health, and that microbiome testing and therapeutics will become a routine
part of healthcare.

After many years of dedicated effort, we are witnessing the realisation of this vision.

The formative years were focused on delivering immediate value from our world-leading technology
through the delivery of non-diagnostic personal and research testing services and early revenues, which
enabled us to build the world’'s most valuable microbiome databank.

After many years of research and development interrogating that databank, Microba has evolved into a
medical diagnostics company delivering the clinical value of microbiome testing, and a clinical-stage drug
development company at the forefront of microbiome-based therapeutic development.

Microba's work in microbiome diagnostics, now has the company positioned with two novel diagnostic tests
assisting patients with unresolved gastrointestinal symptoms, a condition which impacts over 37/m people in
the US alone with almost 50% of those individuals not having resolution through the current standard of care.

Earlier this year we launched MetaPanel for diagnosing gastrointestinal infections nationwide in Australia
together with major shareholder and partner Sonic Healthcare (ASX: SHL). Real world data to date show
that we can achieve new answers for 24% of individuals using that test. When a pathogenic cause of a
patient’'s symptoms is ruled out, MetaXplore, which was launched in Australia in late FY23, is designed to
identify functional causes for non-pathogenic Gl symptoms. Our real-world data show that today we can
identify new management opportunities for a further 28% of patients using this test. Together, our advanced
microbiome diagnostics are positioned to transform the standard of care for the millions of patients across
the globe suffering with unresolved gastrointestinal symptoms.

Our priority international markets for these tests are the United Kingdom and United States. Aligned to
this, we strategically accelerated our United Kingdom commercialisation plan this year with the successful
acquisition of leading United Kingdom microbiome testing company, Invivo Clinical. Through that
acquisition we acquired a strong team and established base of over 1,700 active healthcare professionals,
who are delivering revenues aligned to expectation, and we are now preparing to launch our MetaXplore
test in the UK.

Microba's work in microbiome therapeutics, leveraging the company’s data-driven therapeutic platform,
now has the company positioned with a lead candidate preparing to advance into a Phase 2 efficacy trial
and a compelling pipeline of pre-clinical leads to address major unmet needs across inflammatory bowel
disease, oncology and autoimmune disease.

Following release of the first two FDA approved drugs addressing infectious disease (C.difficile infection),
pharma companies and the sector as a whole are watching to see clinical efficacy demonstrated in a
chronic disease setting, with the most advanced programs across microbiome drug developers targeting
inflammatory bowel disease, immuno-oncology, and Graft Versus Host Disease (GVHD). With successful
completion of the Phase 1 clinical trial for lead candidate MAP 315 under Microba’s Inflammatory Bowel
Disease program, Microba is in a unigue position to advance towards a fully powered Phase 2 efficacy
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Deputy Chair & CEO

study for a live biotherapeutic in a chronic disease setting. This stands to be a critical milestone for the
microbiome drug development sector through demonstration of efficacy in Inflammatory Bowel Disease.

In addition, promising intellectual property was generated for Microba's Autoimmune Disease and
Immuno-Oncology programs. The drug discovery program with Ginkgo Bioworks was a world first effort,
generating over 3 million data points and delivering 6 compelling leads. Our therapeutic advancements
continue to validate Microba's unique ability to discover therapeutically active biology from the human
microbiome through the company’s data-driven Therapeutics Platform. Microba continues to engage
with global pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, and our strategy remains to partner or transact
on our therapeutic assets at the appropriate time, to maximise value for shareholders. Through Microba's
therapeutic programs and pipeline of assets, we are excited about the impact the company’s products can
have on individuals suffering from chronic diseases, and the commercial opportunity for shareholders.

Following another year of growth and advancement in FY24, we now look toward FY25, and anticipate a
robust year of accelerating growth for Microba'’s diagnostic testing products and the advancement of our
therapeutic programs and assets.

On behalf of the Board of Directors and all stakeholders at Microba, we would like to say thank you for your
continuing support. We are proud of the impact Microba is delivering today, and we are excited about the
future impact of our products for those suffering from chronic diseases.

We extend our sincere thanks and appreciation to the entire Microba team, our scientists, collaborators, and
partners around the world.

TR O

Mr. Pasquale Rombola Prof. lan Frazer (AC) Dr. Luke Reid
CHAIR DEPUTY CHAIR CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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The financial year ending June 2024 has been a period of significant revenue
growth supported by product and geographical expansion. Throughout FY24
the company continued to progress its world leading microbiome diagnostic test
portfolio, as well as making positive advancements across its three therapeutic
programs. All of these milestones were achieved whilst maintaining disciplined
financial management across the Microba group.

Revenue for the financial year totalled $12.09m,
representing 123.1% growth on the prior financial
year. Cash receipts for the full financial year
totalled $12.48m. This growth was primarily driven
by Revenue from the Company's Testing Services
& Supplements business unit which accelerated
its year-on-year organic growth in addition to the
revenue added from Invivo Clinical. In FY24 revenue
for this business unit was up 207.8% to $9.46m from
$3.07m. The Research Services division of the Testing
Services & Supplements business unit delivered
$2.63m in revenue, up 12% on the prior year.

This growth was supported by a growing recognition
of the critical role that the microbiome plays in
health and disease, coupled with a rising demand

for personalised healthcare solutions. Interest

has increased within the healthcare practitioner
community led by the growing clinical literature,
awareness and education, leading to increased test
referrals to patients to deliver more informed clinical
decisions and better personalised care. Additionally,
ongoing research and media coverage have
reinforced the importance of microbiome health,
further driving patient engagement and the adoption
of our diagnostic testing services.

FY24 revenue growth was bolstered by positive
market traction for the recently launched
healthcare practitioner only MetaXplore™
gastrointestinal disorders test. This growth was
reflected in clinician adoption numbers, high
customer retention, repeat test referrals, and
the onboarding of new ordering clinicians.
MetaXplore™ sales grew by 60% in H2 FY24
compared to H1 FY24, with over 700 Australian

clinicians having ordered a test by the end of FY24.
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Following the acquisition on 5 December 2023,
Invivo Clinical generated $4.85 million in revenue
for the partial year ended 30 June 2024. This UK
derived revenue was driven by the sale of over
6,600 microbiome tests across gut, vaginal, oral,
and urinary testing, as well as more than 125,000
units of Invivo branded and third party licensed
nutritional supplements.

The financial year's revenue growth was again
weighted to the second half as the company
continues to grow, and we anticipate this growth
trend to continue into FY25 as the Company
continues to grow through the year in its
selected markets.

During FY24, the Group sustained a healthy

gross margin of 49%, consistent with the

previous financial year. This achievement

came despite inflationary pressures on key

inputs to Cost of Sales, particularly laboratory
consumables. The Group successfully maintained
margins by enhancing the efficiency of laboratory
processes, handling higher sample volumes

than the prior year, which unlocked economies
of scale, and benefiting from a more favourable
revenue mix with higher-margin products. The
Group remains focussed on sustaining a positive
gross margin in the coming financial year. Our
focus will be on further optimising laboratory
processes, reducing sequencing costs through a
planned upgrade to the industry leading Illumina
NovaSegX Plus DNA sequencing platform, and
unlocking additional economies of scale to drive
continued margin improvements.
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Microba Revenue - YoY Growth
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Microba continued to invest in its therapeutics
and diagnostic product development. This
included over $13m of investment in research &
development activities principally related to the
Company's therapeutic development programs.
Microba reported a loss for the year ended 30
June 2024 of $18.36m compared with a loss of
$12.68m in FY23, noting that FY24 saw a significant
increase in activity across the group including the
completion of a Phase 1 trial in IBD, completion of
the Autoimmune program with Ginkgo Bioworks,
the launch of MetaPanel with Sonic Healthcare
and the acquisition of UK microbiome leader,
Invivo Clinical.

As at 30 June 2024, Microba had $20.89 million
in cash or equivalents with minimal debt. This
strong liquidity position supports the Group's
continued operations and growth initiatives. This
cash balance was reinforced by a capital raising
completed during the FY24 year whereby the
Company raised $20m to fund the acquisition
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I Microba Personal Testing

Fya1 FY22 FY23 Fy24

Invivo Clinical (UK)

of UK microbiome leader, Invivo Clinical. The
acquisition was completed on 5 December 2023.
Invivo Clinical was acquired for approximately
$13.35m, and there is up to approximately $8.58
million in earn-out consideration tied to revenue
growth hurdles, which is payable in both cash and
ordinary Microba shares.

The Company's Net Assets improved by 6.85%,
compared with the previous year (up $2.64m

to, $41.22m, this position was driven by a large
increase in the Groups Intangible Assets ($21.88m,
up $19.03m from $2.8m in the prior year) related to
the Invivo Clinical acquisition. These movements
were offset by movements in the Group’s liabilities
which included a deferred tax liability ($1.56m) and
contingent consideration ($2.32m current liability
and $1.83m non-current liability) associated with
the Invivo Clinical acquisition. Contract liabilities,
relating to deferred revenue increased $0.88m from
$1.30m to $2.18m as a result of a higher volume of
customer sales during the year.
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Review of Operations & Activities

Testing Business

Next generation gastrointestinal diagnostics

2 clinical tests.

GASTROINTESTINAL
PATHOGEN TEST

MetaPanel’

Powered by MICROBA

1ICROBA

MIiCROBA

World leading microbiome
analysis technology

Proprietary databank

Advanced Al and biostatistics
powering a diagnostics and
therapeutics platform

Therapeutics Business

Precision microbiome therapeutics

Data driven therapeutic development platform.
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DISORDERS TEST
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MetaXplore™

Powered by MICROBA
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Personal Testing

Diagnostic testing products advancing the management of gastrointestinal disease

MetaXplore — Gastrointestinal Disorder Test MetaXplore

Powered by MiCROBA

In February 2023, Microba launched the MetaXplore™ test to healthcare practitioners, which offers the most
comprehensive gastrointestinal testing solution for identifying functional causes of non-pathogenic Gl symptoms.

Since launch over 700 clinicians have now ordered the test across Australia, generating over 5,800 test sales
with strong half on half growth in both MetaXplore™ test sales volume and MetaXplore™ ordering clinicians.

>5,800 .. >700

Tests sold since March 2023 Clinicians have ordered at 30 June 2024
60% 65%
(o] o
Growth HoH Growth HoH
1,841 e
984
I ]
H2 FY23 H1 FY24 H2 FY24 H2 FY23 H1FY24 H2 FY24
MetaXplore test sales volume MetaXplore ordering clinicians

Table 1 — MetaXplore's strong growth profile

MetaXplore™ is the most comprehensive test available to support diagnosis and management of functional
gastrointestinal disorders. Over 30% of the population suffer from a functional gastrointestinal disorder, also
known as a disorder of gut-brain interaction (DGBI) related to the bowel*. Real world data demonstrates that
28% of patients tested with MetaXplore get new information and direction what would have previously gone
unidentified?. It is estimated that total addressable market for the MetaXplore test in the United States alone

is over US $9.5B%.
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During the financial year, Microba dedicated substantial effort and focus into enhancing and refining the
MetaXplore™ test to maximise clinical utility and outcomes for clinicians and patients. This involved the
rollout of several new features as part of a product roadmap designed to lead the clinical utility and rapidly
interpretability of microbiome testing.

MetaPanel — Gastrointestinal Pathogen Test MetaPanel’

Powered by MiICROBA

In March 2024, Microba launched the MetaPanel™ test to healthcare professionals, which delivers the most
comprehensive gastrointestinal testing solution for detecting pathogens that cause Gl symptoms. Microba
launched the test nationwide in Australia together with the Group’s largest shareholder and partner Sonic
Healthcare (ASX: SHL). Successful launch education events have been held together with Sonic Healthcare
across New South Wales, Victoria, Queensland, South Australia, Australian Capital Territory and Tasmania.
Doctor referrals and sales continue to grow monthly across the country, focused around the major

east coast states New South Wales, Victoria and Queensland. The sales strategy is focused on engaging
gastroenterology specialists and general practitioners (GPs).

MetaPanel™ is a world-first NATA accredited test for diagnosing gastrointestinal pathogens. It is the most
comprehensive gastrointestinal pathogen test available, detecting both common and difficult-to-identify
pathogens capable of causing serious infection. Real world data demonstrates that 24% of patients tested with
MetaPanel™ get a diagnosis that would have been undiagnosed or experienced delayed time to diagnosis and
resolution®. It is estimated that total global addressable market for the MetaPanel test is over US S9B®.

International expansion into the United Kingdom
with strategic acquisition

Microba acquired 100% of the issued share capital in UK registered company, Invivo Clinical Limited (Invivo)
on December 5, 2023. Financial and corporate integration has been completed with the first full half of
Invivo sales and revenue as part of the Microba group delivering in line with expectations, generating
$4.85m for the half year of ownership. To unlock the first phase of growth over the coming financial year,
Microba has invested selectively to unlock latent growth potential within the existing Invivo business by
bolstering Invivo's sales and marketing team resourcing. For the second stage of growth targeting the core
growth synergy, the Company is preparing to launch Microba’s MetaXplore™ testing in FY25 to Invivo's over
7,000 clinician customer base.

The UK is a key market in the next phase of Microba's international growth strategy. Invivo is a pioneer in
microbiome testing for healthcare professionals in the United Kingdom. Acquiring a market leading position,
customer and geographical base in the UK through Invivo Clinical, together with Microba’s Sonic Healthcare
partnership, provides deep access to the entire UK healthcare market spanning private practice and the
public NHS environment.
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Research Testing

Advancing global microbiome research

With Microba's world-leading technologies and
expertise, the company continues to work with
leading universities and research institutes, as well as

biotechnology, pharmaceutical and food companies.

Microba delivered over $2.6m in research
projects across the year and is extremely proud
of the impact it is making through working
with a diverse array of customers and partners
to advance the global knowledge base using
Microba's precision tools.

During the year Microba signed a further research
agreement with International Flavors and
Fragrances IFF (NYSE: IFF) as part of an ongoing

Annual Report 2024

MIiCROBA

multistage research program between the parties
to develop novel microbiome-based treatments
for multiple forms of allergy. The Research
Agreement marks the second agreement between
Microba and IFF, which is a follow up to the initial
research services agreement executed on 9
November 2021. Under the Initial Agreement, for
Stage 1, Microba completed the identification of
lead species from which IFF was entitled to select
strains under the Initial Agreement. The Stage 2
project is to complete the successful isolation of
strains selected from Stage 1 and characterisation
of those strains. Microba continues to grow this
long-term commercial relationship between the
parties, to develop novel allergy treatments.
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Using the company’s human first data-driven Therapeutics Platform, significant
progress was made across Microba’s therapeutic programs.

Core Program | Discovery R&D |  Preclinical |  Phasel ! Phase2 | Upcoming Development Partners
] ! ' i . Milestone |
R T N
i iti | ' ! Phase2IND | = 7 avsteaun
(Ulcerative Colitis) | H H ' ' - '
! . submission ! {},
: E 3 Le?d E THE UNIVERSITY T
Immuno-Oncology Undisclosed (LBP) C | candidate | [Eorounein C Ganantute
i i f . selection !
) Animal | GINKGO
Autoimmune '
- model data ! BIOWORKS

Inflammatory Bowel Disease Program —
Successful Phase 1 trial, preparing for Phase 2

In December 2023, the Phase 1 clinical trial of

lead drug candidate MAP 315 was completed on
schedule, the trial demonstrated that MAP 315 is
safe and well tolerated at both low and high doses.

Pre-clinical characterisation data, supports

the core mechanisms of action for MAP 315
stimulating mucosal healing (modulation of WNT
signalling pathway, restoration of gut barrier
integrity) and immune homeostasis (induction of
regulatory T cells), both central to the aetiology
and pathophysiology of Ulcerative Colitis (UC). The
pre-clinical data together with the Phase 1 clinical
study results provide strong positive support for
continuing to advance the clinical development of
MAP 315 for the treatment of Ulcerative Colitis.

The preparation for a Phase 2 trial is well
advanced, including regulatory and manufacturing
(CMCQ). The Microba Therapeutics team are
continuing to bolster the CMC package in support
of at scale GMP manufacturing, finalisation of the
regulatory documentation and achieving readiness
for an investigational new drug (IND) submission.
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MAP 315 is being developed for the treatment of
UC, a debilitating form of Inflammatory Bowel
Disease (IBD) with more than 50% of patients
unable to achieve sustained remission with current
standard of care. The market for UC treatment was
valued at USS7.5b in 2020 and is forecast to grow
to USS$10.8b by 2030°.

Microba's novel drug candidate MAP 315 was
originally identified using the Company's data-
driven Therapeutic Platform, demonstrating that
this previously unidentified novel bacterial species
is commonly observed in healthy individuals

but consistently deficient in individuals with IBD,
and in particular UC. Subsequent pre-clinical
investigation of MAP 315 through both in vitro
and in vivo models demonstrated that MAP 315
promotes epithelial restitution and mucosal
healing — biological activities that are associated
with disease remission but not adequately
addressed through existing therapies. MAP 315
provides a compelling commercial opportunity
to fill a key gap in the current standard of care for
UC treatment and represents a potential novel
treatment paradigm for patients living with this
debilitating disease.
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Immuno-Oncology Program — Confirmed anti-
tumour activity, clinical data and sample set
grown to over 3,500 patients

Microba completed multiple pre-clinical animal
model experiments for its therapeutic leads
confirming their anti-tumour activity, and
demonstrating induction of a specific and targeted
immune response. This included a refractory
mouse model of melanoma, an ICl responsive
colon adenocarcinoma MC38 syngeneic mouse
model, and a B16-F10 mouse tumour model.

Microba’s clinical data and sample set for this
program was grown to over 3,500 patients.
Firstly, through the national Precision Oncology
Screening Platform Enabling Clinical Trials
(PrOSPeCT) study’ where Microba is capturing a
large and diverse bank of patient specimens for
cancer patients receiving treatment and enrolled
in clinical trials. This has quickly grown to over
2,500 patient samples and is expected to be one
of the largest clinical specimen resources with
respect to the microbiome and cancer treatment.
Secondly, through more than 1,000 patient
samples Microba has analysed from internally
recruited and published studies. These additional
clinical insights are expected to support the lead
candidate selection decision processes and the
pre-clinical package.

This program is targeting the development of a
therapeutic to improve response rates in cancer
patients receiving immune checkpoint inhibitor (ICI)
therapy. Global ICl sales continue to grow, with
Merck announcing sales of the market-leading drug
Keytruda of USS25b for calendar year 20238,

There is an increasing body of literature
supporting a key role for the microbiome in
cancer®. Cancer immunotherapy, and more
specifically ICls have become standard of care
for a range of tumour types. However, despite
their impact on cancer treatment, up to 70%

of patients do not respond to these drugs'®*
leaving a large, underserved patient population.
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Differences in the microbiomes of responders
and non-responders to ICl treatment have been
observed in international studies, and treatment
of the microbiome using faecal microbiome
transplants has demonstrated the ability to turn
ICl non-responders into responders!® 3.

Using the Company’s data-driven Therapeutic
Platform, this has enabled the Company to identify
organisms that are commonly observed in ICI
responders, but consistently deficient in ICI non-
responders Subsequent pre-clinical investigation
of these leads through both in vitro models and in
vivo animal models has demonstrated that these
organisms induce specific and targeted immune
responses, and are able to significantly reduce
tumour burden. A microbiome-based adjuvant
therapy that increases response to these drugs has
the potential to become standard of care across

a range of cancers, and therefore represents a
substantial commercial opportunity for Microba.

Autoimmune Disease Program — Successful
completion of world-first discovery program

In June 2024, the autoimmune disease discovery
program with partner Ginkgo Bioworks (NYSE:
DNA) was successfully completed on time and

on budget with primary and secondary activity
screening data received for all lead bacterial strains.

The world-first discovery program delivered
compelling biological activity enabling selection
of 6 lead strains which demonstrate significant
disease relevant activity, generating new
therapeutic intellectual property assets for the
Company. Overall the program generated more
than 3 million data points, and the high activity
hit-rate has further validated Microba's data driven
therapeutic platform and valuation of the Microba
Therapeutic business.

The data generated through the discovery
program provides strong biological validation for
further investment in these assets to move into the
next stage of development.
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The goal of this program is to discover and
develop novel treatments for autoimmune
diseases such as lupus, psoriatic arthritis and
certain autoimmune liver diseases. Microba'’s
Autoimmune Disease program was established

in partnership with Ginkgo Bioworks (NYSE: DNA)
in FY22 following Ginkgo Biowork's strategic
investment into Microba’'s ASX IPO. Both parties
in collaboration, committed to a two-year

drug discovery program principally targeting
autoimmune disorders. The partnership brought
together Microba's unique ability to identify and
isolate human gut bacteria associated with health
together with the high-throughput microbial
screening capabilities of Ginkgo Bioworks, creating
a powerful drug discovery workflow.

Functional changes in the microbiome have

been unequivocally linked to a broad range of
autoimmune disease!™® Autoimmune diseases
are a family of more than 80 chronic and often
life-threatening illnesses, which occur when the
body’s own immune system attacks the body's
healthy cells, tissues and organs. Autoimmune
conditions now impact around 5% of the
population and their prevalence is rising*®. The
global market for autoimmune disease treatments
was estimated to be USS$198b in 2023 and forecast
to grow to USS$288b by 2028"Y. This program
represents a compelling opportunity to identify a
next generation of autoimmune therapeutics from
the human microbiome.
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Biobank

Together with the Queensland University of
Technology (QUT), in June 2023 Microba was
awarded a $2.92m grant to enable development
of the Australian Human Microbiome Biobank
(AHMB). The collaborative program is aimed to
isolate and characterise thousands of new species
from the human microbiome to establish a world-
leading human microbiome biobank and has
made significant progress in the past year.

Initial work during FY24 has generated more
than 10,000 isolates comprising over 500
species of which more than 200 are previously
uncultured. In addition, a dedicated facility was
officially opened on the 19 June 2024 at the
Translational Research Institute (the same facility
as Microba’s laboratories) enabling Australia’s
first atmosphere-controlled, high-throughput
cultivation platform, integrating novel methods in
spectral flow cytometry and metagenomics. This
innovative approach is being applied to a diverse
range of microbial communities throughout the
human body, including the gut, skin, vaginal and
oral microbiome, resulting in the world's most
comprehensive biobank of its kind.

The AHMB will be a globally unigue asset and has
the potential to enable numerous therapeutic
programs and partnerships, including the
Company's current therapeutic programs in
Inflammatory Bowel Disease, Immuno-Oncology
and Autoimmune Diseases.
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MATERIAL BUSINESS RISKS

The Company actively manages a range of risks and uncertainties with the
potential to have a material impact on the Company and its ability to achieve
its strategic and business objectives. A number of material risks specific to the
operations and objectives of the Company have been identified below, each of
which is subject to active and ongoing risk management across the Group. The
identified risks are common and prevalent to companies across the healthcare,
pathology, and drug development sectors.

It is important to note that the table below is not an exhaustive list of business risks; instead, it provides a
condensed overview of the key material business risks that face the company at present, additional risks may
emerge as the company continues to advance its testing and therapeutics businesses.

Description of risk

Regulatory and Microba operates in the highly regulated healthcare, diagnostics and clinical

compliance risk trial environments and works with expert advisors related to these activities.
Changes in laws, regulations, or industry standards related to healthcare,
clinical trials, patient privacy, data protection, and medical testing could impact
our operations. Non-compliance with these regulations could result in legal
liabilities, fines, reputational damage, and delays in product development.

Competition The microbiome industry is rapidly evolving, attracting competitors globally.
Intensified competition can lead to pressure on pricing, margins, and market
share, which reinforces the need to maintain Microba’s leading technological
position and to continually invest in innovation. Further, there are other
companies seeking to develop microbiome-based therapeutics directed to
similar indications that are being targeted by the Company.

Clinical trial delays Developing new drug products can be complex, costly and uncertain.

and failures Clinical trials involve inherent risks, including delays due to patient
recruitment, lack of efficacy, safety concerns, regulatory hold-ups, and
unforeseen adverse effects. The failure of clinical trials to meet endpoints
or obtain regulatory approval could lead to extended project timelines,
requirement of increased levels of capital or cessation of programs.

Intellectual Property Microba relies on the ongoing protection of the Company's proprietary

Protection technologies, patents, and trade secrets and actively engages with expert
intellectual property lawyers to manage this. The international granting of
patent claims, risk of intellectual property infringement or challenges from
competitors could impact our ability to protect our innovations and maintain
a competitive advantage.
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Ability to raise
additional capital

Cybersecurity

Supply chain
disruptions

Dependency on key
personnel

Market acceptance
and adoption

Distribution partners
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Description of risk

Diagnostic test development, international expansion, therapeutic
development and clinical trials are highly capital-intensive, and access

to external funding may be essential for our continued operations and
development of the Company’s diagnostic tests, international expansion
and therapeutic asset development. The Company’s ability to raise capital is
influenced by prevailing market conditions. Unfavourable market conditions,
such as economic downturns or heightened market volatility, could impact
investor sentiment and may make capital raising more challenging.

Microba products and services all have digital components and as such

our business must confront the risks of a cybersecurity breach. As we
continuously advance the Microba Group, new threats can and will emerge,
necessitating a robust information and IT security framework.

Our operations rely on a consistent supply of laboratory equipment,
consumables, reagents, and other materials. Supply chain disruptions due
to factors like global events or regulatory issues can lead to delays and
increased costs.

Our success is tied to the expertise and experience of our founders, key
scientific and management personnel. The loss of key individuals could
disrupt our operations, hinder product development and innovation, and
impact our business strategy.

The adoption of new healthcare testing methods and products may be slower
than anticipated due to factors such as healthcare practitioner reluctance,
patient preferences, or limited reimbursement coverage. Delays in market
acceptance could impact our revenue projections and growth potential.

Microba’s global strategy includes partnering with global healthcare
providers to distribute Microba’s products and services in selected territories.
Distribution partners are generally responsible for marketing, sales,
operations, regulatory and legal considerations surrounding the distribution
of the products and services in their defined territory. Distribution partners
are separate entities to Microba, and this strategy inherently involves risk that
our partners will not meet the commercial or performance objectives or the
aforementioned responsibilities of the distribution partnership. The success
or failure of these distribution partnerships may have a direct impact on
Microba'’s future financial performance.
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Microba Life Sciences Limited
Directors' report
30 June 2024

The Directors present their report, together with the financial statements, on the consolidated entity (referred to hereafter as
the 'Group' or 'Microba') consisting of Microba Life Sciences Limited (referred to hereafter as the 'Company' or 'parent entity')
and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2024.

Directors
The following persons were Directors of Microba Life Sciences Limited during the whole of the financial year and up to the
date of this report, unless otherwise stated:

Pasquale Rombola Independent Non-Executive Director
lan Frazer Independent Non-Executive Director
Gene Tyson Non-Executive Director
Richard Bund Non-Executive Director
Hyungtae Kim Non-Executive Director
Jacqueline Fernley Independent Non-Executive Director

The names of the Company Secretaries in office at any time during or since the end of the year unless otherwise stated are:

aﬂes Heath

:eter Webse

Gesults

The loss for the Group after providing for income tax amounted to $19,938,485 (30 June 2023: $12,680,212).

eview of operations
formation on the operations and financial position of the Group is set out in the review of operations and activities on
ages 6 to 23 of this Annual Report.

ignificant changes in the state of affairs
here were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group during the financial year, other than those referred to
Isewhere in this report.

8rincipal activities
he principal activity of the Group during the year was providing world class microbiome testing, supplements and analysis
rvices as well as developing new pathology services, therapeutics and diagnostics based on the human gut microbiome.

d) significant change in the nature of these activities occurred during the year.

«_Dividends
dhere were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current or previous financial year.

I IAfter balance date events
No matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2024 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the Group's
operations, the results of those operations, or the Group's state of affairs in future financial years.

Likely developments

Over the next 12 months, Microba’s primary focus will be on globally expanding its world leading diagnostic microbiome testing
products, supplements and services. This expansion will occur both directly and in collaboration with our world leading
distribution partners. With our successful transition into clinical stage of therapeutic development, Microba is continuing to
advance its lead candidates through pre-clinical and clinical development activities.

Further information on the likely developments of the Group is set out in the review of operations and activities on pages 6 to
23 of this Annual Report.

Environmental regulation
The Group is not subject to any significant environmental regulation under Australian Commonwealth or State law.
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Information on Directors, Chief Executive Officer and Company Secretaries

Name:
Title:
Experience and expertise:

Other current directorships:

Former directorships:
Subcommittees:

Interests in shares:
jkterests in options:

ame:
gitle:
xperience and expertise:
V)
-
-

ormer directorships:

ubcommittees:
S=Interests in shares:

terests in options:

QBme:

¢ Title:
dxperience and expertise:

LL

gther current directorships:

Other current directorships:

Former directorships:
Subcommittees:
Interests in shares:
Interests in options:
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Pasquale Rombola

Chair & Non-Executive Director

Mr Rombola has over 30 years’ corporate and financial experience in Australia, Asia
and the United Kingdom. He spent 19 years in senior positions with Morgan Stanley and
Deutsche Bank, including 7 years in the role of Managing Director. Mr Rombola is the
Chair of Advantage Agriculture Pty Ltd, a private agribusiness company. He was also
formerly the Chair and Director of Helix Resources Limited (ASX: HLX) and Non-
Executive Director of Audeara Limited, a leading hearing health company (ASX: AUA).

Mr Rombola holds a Bachelor of Economics from the University of Western Australia.
None

Audeara Limited (ASX:AUA) - resigned 28 August 2023

Member - Audit and Risk Committee

Member - Nomination and Remuneration Committee

5,770,000 ordinary shares

300,000 options over ordinary shares

lan Frazer

Deputy Chair & Non-Executive Director

Emeritus Professor Frazer is a clinician scientist, trained as a clinical immunologist. He
is an Emeritus Professor at the University of Queensland and is the current Chair of the
Australian Medical research Advisory Board (AMRAB) which advises the Minister for
Health and Aged Care on prioritising spending from the Medical Research Future Fund
(MRFF). He is recognised as co-inventor of the technology enabling Gardasil — the
leading vaccine currently used worldwide to assist in the prevention of cervical cancer.

Emeritus Professor Frazer holds a Doctor of Medicine from the University of Melbourne
and a Bachelor of Medicine, Bachelor of Surgery and Bachelor of Science (Hons) from
the University of Edinburgh.

None

None

Chair - Audit and Risk Committee

1,634,902 ordinary shares

300,000 options over ordinary shares

Gene Tyson

Non-Executive Director & Co-Founder

Professor Tyson is a Professor of Microbial Genomics at The Queensland University of
Technology and is the Director of the Centre for Microbiome Research.

He published the first paper regarding the use of metagenomic-sequencing for
assessing microbial communities. Professor Tyson is considered a world leading expert
in microbial analysis with previous tenure at the University of California, Massachusetts
Institute of Technology and the University of Queensland.

Professor Tyson holds a Bachelor of Science (Hons) from the University of Queensland
and a PhD from the University of California, Berkeley.

None

None

Member - Nomination and Remuneration Committee

17,100,000 ordinary shares

200,000 options over ordinary shares
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Name:
Title:
Experience and expertise:

Other current directorships:
Former directorships:
Subcommittees:

Interests in shares:
Interests in options:

_>N)me:

itle:
xperience and expertise:

QO
N

:Bther current directorships:
—_Former directorships:
ubcommittees:
terests in shares:

O

(/D'uterests in options:
L

Gﬁ_ame:

itle:
perience and expertise:

L

O
LL

Other current directorships:
Former directorships:
Subcommittees:

Interests in shares:
Interests in options:
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Richard Bund

Non-Executive Director

Mr Bund is a Chartered Accountant and Director of Equipe Advisory accounting firm. Mr
Bund has more than 25 years’ experience in accounting and corporate finance and is a
Director of several private Australian companies.

Mr Bund is a Member of Chartered Accountants Australia & New Zealand (CAANZ). He
holds a Bachelor of Commerce (Accounting) from the University of Adelaide and a
Graduate Diploma in Chartered Accounting from the Institute of Chartered Accountants
Australia (ICAA).

None

None

Member - Audit and Risk Committee

Chair - Nomination and Remuneration Committee

33,480,799 ordinary shares

200,000 options over ordinary shares

Hyungtae Kim

Non-Executive Director

Dr Hyungtae Kim is an internationally experienced leader in the genomics field, having
held the positions of Chief Executive Officer of Macrogen, Inc., (Macrogen) from 2008
to 2014 and Chief Executive Officer of Macrogen Europe from 2015 to 2017. Dr Kim is
the CEO of Hunomics and Director of the Gongwu Genome Information Foundation
(GGIF). Dr Kim holds a PhD in Molecular Biology from The George Washington
University.

None

None

None

Dr Hyungtae Kim is a nominee Director of Macrogen, Inc.

Refer to the Shareholder Information included in this report for details of Macrogen Inc.'s
shareholding.
200,000 options over ordinary shares

Jacqueline Fernley

Non-Executive Director

Mrs Fernley currently serves as the Chief Investment Officer (ClO) of Mason Stevens
where she leads the asset management division of the firm. Prior to joining Mason
Stevens, Mrs Fernley held roles as Head of Equities at J B Were Limited, Head of
Research at Wilson HTM and Australian Equity Portfolio Manager at Colonial First State
Global Asset Management. Mrs Fernley has a Bachelor's Degree in Commerce/Law, is
a holder of the Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA) designation, is a member of Chief
Executive Women (CEW), and is a graduate of the Australian Institute of Company
Directors (GAICD).

Mrs Fernley is also intimately involved in mentoring and supporting women in the
financial services industry and ESG, regularly presenting to investment committees,
boards, and management on the topics. She currently sits on the diversity committee of
the NSW CFA Society.

None

None

Member - Nomination and Remuneration Committee

0 ordinary shares

200,000 options over ordinary shares
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Name: Luke Reid

Title: Chief Executive Officer

Experience and expertise: Dr Reid is an experienced research and technology commercialisation executive. His

deep knowledge of the biotechnology sector has underpinned Microba's growth into a
global biotechnology company delivering on its mission to improve human health with
precision microbiome science. Dr Reid's expertise in translational research, technology
commercialisation, commercial partnerships, licensing and intellectual property
management uniquely places him to lead Microba as Chief Executive Officer.

Previously, Dr Reid was Associate Director at UniQuest Pty Ltd, one of the global
leaders in commercialisation of university technology. Prior to UniQuest, Dr Reid held
roles working with the world's leading developer of advanced plant genetics, DuPont
Pioneer, and the world leader in bioinnovation of enzymes, proteins and
microorganisms, Novozymes.

Dr Reid holds a PHD in Molecular Biology from The University of Adelaide and a
Bachelor of Science (Biotechnology (Hons)) from Flinders University.

y

ame: James Heath
itle: Chief Financial Officer & Joint Company Secretary
xperience and expertise: Mr Heath is a Chartered Accountant with over 12 years' experience in accounting,

finance and operations across a broad range of industries. Prior to joining Microba, he
was a management consultant and auditor at Deloitte Australia.

Mr Heath is a member of Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand, holding
a Graduate Diploma in Chartered Accounting. He also holds a Bachelor of Business
Management and a Bachelor of Commerce (Accounting) from the University of

Queensland.
ame: Peter Webse
itle: Joint Company Secretary
xperience and expertise: Mr Webse is a Director of Governance Corporate Pty Ltd, a company specialising in

sopnal use anl

providing company secretarial, corporate governance and corporate advisory services.
He is a Fellow of the Governance Institute of Australia (FGIA), a Fellow of the
Chartered Governance Institute (GCI), a Fellow of CPA Australia (FCPA) and has a
Bachelor of Business (Accounting and Finance) from Edith Cowan University.

I per

Mr Webse has over 30 years of ASX listed company secretarial experience.

Q)ther current directorships' and 'former directorships' quoted above are directorships for ASX listed entities only and excludes
directorships of all other types of entities, unless otherwise stated. 'Former directorships' shown above are directorships held
within the last 3 years only.

Meetings of Directors
The number of meetings of the Company's Board of Directors ('the Board') and of each Board committee held during the year
ended 30 June 2024, and the number of meetings attended by each Director were:

Nomination and

Full Board Remuneration Committee Audit and Risk Committee
Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held

Pasquale Rombola 9 9 3 3 1 1
lan Frazer 8 9 - - 1 1
Gene Tyson 8 9 3 3 - -
Richard Bund 8 9 3 3 1 1
Hyungtae Kim 9 9 - - - -
Jacqueline Fernley 9 9 1 1 - -

Held: represents the number of meetings held during the time the Director held office or was a member of the relevant
committee.
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Options

Options over unissued ordinary shares granted by Microba Life Sciences Limited during or since the end of the financial year

were as follows:

Shares under option

Unissued ordinary shares of Microba Life Sciences Limited under option at the date of this report are as follows:

Date options granted

Number of options

Exercise price of options

Expiry date of the options

25/11/2019 4,300,000 $0.288 24/11/2024
13/01/2020 400,000 $0.243 24/11/2024
31/01/2020 200,000 $0.288 24/11/2024
30/06/2020 266,666 $0.288 29/06/2024
01/04/2021 3,233,332 $0.324 04/04/2026
05/04/2022 1,200,000 $0.675 05/05/2025
/07/2023 6,145,000 $0.453 28/07/2027
281072023 4,000,000 $0.638 28/07/2027
E8/12/2023 200,000 $0.271 28/01/2027
O 19,944,998

G-l)\cluded in these options were options granted as remuneration to the directors and the five most highly remunerated officers

(/Quring the year. Details of options granted to key management personnel are disclosed on pages 10 and 11 as part of the
muneration report. In addition, the following options were granted to officers who are among the five highest remunerated
fficers of the Group, but are not key management persons and hence not disclosed in the remuneration report:

C'G Number of

Date options options

Glame of officer granted Issue Price granted
rent Munro 28/07/2023 $0.453 2,000,000
Lrent Munro 28/07/2023 $0.638 2,000,000

G.Qo option holder has any right under the options to participate in any other share issue of the Group.

gﬁares issued on the exercise of options
S=Lhe following ordinary shares of Microba Life Sciences Limited were issued during the year ended 30 June 2024 and up to
@e date of this report on the exercise of options granted:

LI_ Exercise Number of
Date options exercised price shares issued
19 October 2023 (cash) $0.180 2,000,000
19 October 2023 (net-settled) $0.180 1,631,675
3,631,675

Indemnification of Directors, officers and key management personnel

The Company has indemnified the Directors, officers and key management personnel of the Company for costs incurred, in
their capacity as a Director, officer or key management personnel, for which they may be held personally liable, except where
there is a lack of good faith.

During the financial year, the Company paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the Directors, officers and key

management personnel of the Company against a liability to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The contract
of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the premium.
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Indemnification of auditors
No indemnities have been given or insurance premiums paid, during or since the end of the year, for any person who is or
has been an auditor of the Group.

Proceedings on behalf of the Group
No person has applied to the Court for leave to bring proceedings on behalf of the Group, or to intervene in any proceedings
to which the Group is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Group for all or part of those proceedings.

Non-audit services
Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor for non-audit services provided during the financial year by the auditor
are outlined in note 33 to the financial statements.

The Directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services during the financial year, by the auditor (or by another
person or firm on the auditor's behalf), is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the
Corporations Act 2001.

e Directors are of the opinion that the services as disclosed in note 33 to the financial statements do not compromise the
ernal auditor's independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons:
all non-audit services have been reviewed and approved to ensure that they do not impact the integrity and objectivity of

d
C the auditor; and
O none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 110 Code of

Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) issued by the Accounting Professional and

G) Ethical Standards Board, including reviewing or auditing the auditor's own work, acting in a management or decision-
m making capacity for the Company, acting as advocate for the Company or jointly sharing economic risks and rewards.
:Bfficers of the Company who are former Partners of Pitcher Partners

—There are no officers of the Company who are former Partners of Pitcher Partners, the Group's auditor.

ounding of amounts

he Company is of a kind referred to in Corporations Instrument 2016/191 Rounding in Financial/Directors' Reports, issued
y the Australian Securities and Investments Commission, relating to "rounding off". Amounts in this report have been rounded
ff in accordance with that Corporations Instrument to the nearest dollar.

SILL

For per
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Remuneration report (audited)
The remuneration report details the key management personnel remuneration arrangements for the Group, in accordance
with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and its Regulations.

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the
activities of the entity, directly or indirectly, including all Directors.

The Group's KMP for the financial year ended 30 June 2024 are listed in the table below:

KMP
Name Title Term Status
Non-Executive Directors:
Pasquale Rombola Chair & Non-Executive Director Full Year  Current
lan Frazer Deputy Chair & Non-Executive Director Full Year  Current
Gene Tyson Non-Executive Director & Co-Founder Full Year  Current
ichard Bund Non-Executive Director Full Year  Current
_%ungtae Kim Non-Executive Director Full Year  Current
cqueline Fernley Non-Executive Director Full Year  Current
g‘her Key Management Personnel:
uke Reid Chief Executive Officer Full Year  Current
James Heath Chief Financial Officer & Joint Company Secretary Full Year  Current

he remuneration report is set out under the following main headings:
Principles to determine the nature and amount of remuneration;
Details of remuneration;
Share-based compensation;
Additional disclosures relating to key management personnel; and
Service agreements.

nal. use

rinciples used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration

he objective of the Group's executive reward framework is to ensure reward for performance is competitive and appropriate
r the results delivered. The framework aligns executive reward with the achievement of strategic objectives and the creation
value for shareholders, and it is considered to conform to the market best practice for the delivery of reward. The Board of
irectors ('the Board') ensures that executive reward satisfies the following key criteria for good reward governance practices:
competitiveness and reasonableness;

acceptability to shareholders;

performance linkage / alignment of executive compensation; and

transparency.

Sif

QL per

I IThe Nomination and Remuneration Committee is responsible for determining and reviewing remuneration arrangements for
its Directors and executives. As the performance of the Group depends on the quality of its Directors and executives, the
remuneration philosophy is to attract, motivate and retain high performance and high quality personnel.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee has structured an executive remuneration framework that is market

competitive, complementary to the reward strategy of the Group and is designed to align executive reward to shareholders’

interests by:

e focusing on sustained growth in shareholder value, delivering increasing asset value and including focus the executive
on key non-financial drivers of value; and

e  attracting and retaining high calibre executives.

Additionally, the reward framework should seek to enhance executives' interests by:
e rewarding capability and experience;

° reflecting competitive reward for contribution to growth in shareholder value; and
e  providing a clear structure for earning rewards.

Non-executive Directors remuneration

Fees and payments to non-executive Directors reflect the demands and responsibilities of their role. Non-executive Directors'
fees and payments are reviewed annually by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee.
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The Chair and Deputy Chair's fees are determined independently to the fees of other non-executive Directors based on
comparative roles in the external market.

ASX listing rules require the aggregate non-executive Directors' remuneration be determined periodically by a general
meeting. The most recent determination was at the General Meeting held on 1 February 2023, where the shareholders
approved a maximum annual aggregate remuneration of $600,000. We do not currently propose an increase to this limit.

Executive remuneration
The Group aims to reward executives based on their position and responsibility, with a level and mix of remuneration which
has both fixed and variable components.

The executive remuneration and reward framework has four components:

base pay and non-monetary benefits;

e  short-term performance incentives;

e long term incentive through Employee Share and Option Plan participation; and
e other remuneration such as superannuation and long service leave.

zhe combination of these comprises the executive's total remuneration.

%ixed remuneration, consisting of base salary, superannuation and non-monetary benefits, are reviewed annually by the
omination and Remuneration Committee based on individual and business unit performance, the overall performance of the
G53roup and comparable market remunerations.
he short-term incentives ('STI') program is designed to align the milestones of the Group with the performance hurdles of
xecutives. STl payments, which are generally paid in cash, are granted to executives based on specific annual targets and
bjectives and key results ('OKR's') being achieved. OKR's include the achievement of milestones for the business units,
—shareholder value creation, customer satisfaction and leadership contribution. During the year, the Nomination and
emuneration Committee specifically reviewed the STI program OKR's for each executive and allocated a weighting to those
gentified STI OKR's. Only if the specific STI OKR is met does it trigger that relevant proportion of the STI being unlocked for
e Executive. STI's are adjusted for when business is acquired (e.g. Invivo Clinical) such that STI's are only payable on
Oomparable baseline data. The long-term incentives ('LTI') include share-based payments.

(/'}he Board may approve the issue of securities (shares, performance rights or options) to staff and executives as a means of
roviding long term incentive for performance and loyalty. Any such securities are issued under the Microba Employee Share
nd Option Plan.

QEcurities are awarded to staff and executives over a minimum period of one year based on long-term incentive measures.
¢_These include increase in shareholders’ value relative to the Group's direct peers. The Nomination and Remuneration
QOmmittee undertook a thorough review of the Microba LTI program during the year ended 30 June 2023. The Nomination
nd Remuneration Committee’s primary objective with the LTI scheme is to align the interests of our executives with those of
ngur shareholders. The design focus of the LTl scheme has been on incentivising the attainment of strategic goals,
consequently creating shareholder value. The LTI scheme has been constructed based on share price targets, compound
annual growth rates (CAGR) in group revenue (which as aforementioned, includes organic growth and not acquired growth),
and the successful achievement of significant milestones within our therapeutic programs (Tx progress).

Details of remuneration

Amounts of remuneration
Details of the remuneration of key management personnel of the Group are set out in the following tables:
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2024

Non-Executive
Directors:
Pasquale Rombola
lan Frazer
Gene Tyson
Richard Bund
Hyungtae Kim
>§cqueline Fernley

ther Key
anagement
ersonnel:

Luke Reid

q,)ames Heath

onal us

@023

qﬁlon-Executive
q.;rectors:
squale Rombola
< _lan Frazer
Qene Tyson
ichard Bund
LLI;Iyungtae Kim

Caroline Popper*
Jacqueline Fernley

Other Key
Management
Personnel:
Luke Reid
James Heath

Short-term benefits

Post-
employment Long-term
benefits

benefits Share-based payments

Cash Long
salary Advisory Cash Super- service Equity-
and fees fees bonus annuation leave settled Options Total
$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $
85,833 - - - - - 24,024 109,857
80,417 - - - - - 24,024 104,441
55,417 48,000 - - - - 16,016 119,433
60,833 - - - - - 16,016 76,849
50,000 - - - - - 16,016 66,016
51,801 - - - - - 6,827 58,628
309,649 - 30,250 27,500 7,046 - 192,250 566,695
235,680 - 24,800 27,067 6,631 - 36,230 330,408
929,630 48,000 55,050 54,567 13,677 - 331,403 1,432,327
Post-
employment Long-term
Short-term benefits benefits benefits Share-based payments
Cash Long
salary Advisory Cash Super- service Equity-
and fees fees bonus annuation leave settled Options Total
$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $
85,000 - - - - - 26,687 111,687
80,000 - - - - - 26,687 106,687
55,000 48,000 - - - - 17,791 120,791
60,000 - - - - - 17,791 77,791
50,000 - - - - - 17,791 67,791
50,000 - - - - - 34,612 84,612
40,833 - - - - - - 40,833
277,533 - 41,250 27,326 6,482 - 29,693 382,284
194,134 - 33,500 23,916 4,296 - 25,402 281,248
892,500 48,000 74,750 51,242 10,778 - 196,454 1,273,724

* Caroline Popper resigned effective 14 June 2023
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The proportion of remuneration linked to performance and the fixed proportion are as follows:

Fixed remuneration At risk - STI At risk - LTI
Name 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
Non-Executive Directors:
Pasquale Rombola 78% 76% - - 22% 24%
lan Frazer 77% 75% - - 23% 25%
Gene Tyson 87% 85% - - 13% 15%
Richard Bund 79% 77% - - 21% 23%
Hyungtae Kim 76% 74% - - 24% 26%
Caroline Popper* - 59% - - - 41%
Jacqueline Fernley 88% 100% - - 12% -
Other Key Management
Personnel:
Zske Reid 62% 81% 4% 11% 34% 8%
es Heath 84% 79% 5% 12% 11% 9%
%Caroline Popper resigned effective 14 June 2023
Gjhe proportion of the STI paid/payable or forfeited is as follows:
m STI paid/payable STl forfeited
—Name 2024 2023 2024 2023
ther Key Management Personnel:
uke Reid 60% 82% 40% 18%
mes Heath 62% 84% 38% 16%

8hare-based compensation

S=issue of shares
here were no shares issued to Directors and other key management personnel as part of compensation during the year
@ded 30 June 2024.

«_Options
he terms and conditions of each grant of options over ordinary shares affecting remuneration of Directors and other key
anagement personnel in this financial year or future reporting years are as follows:

Fair value
Number of per option
options Vesting date and Exercise at

Name granted Grantdate exercisable date Expiry date price grant date
Luke Reid 2,000,000 28/07/2023 28/07/2026 - 28/07/2026 28/07/2027 $0.453 $0.160
James Heath 485,000 28/07/2023 28/07/2026 - 28/07/2026 28/07/2027 $0.453 $0.160
Luke Reid 2,000,000 28/07/2023 28/07/2026 - 28/07/2026 28/07/2027 $0.628 $0.135
Jacqueline Fernley 67,000 28/12/2023 28/01/2024 - 28/01/2024 28/01/2027 $0.271 $0.059
Jacqueline Fernley 67,000 28/12/2023 28/01/2025 - 28/01/2025 28/01/2027 $0.271 $0.060
Jacqueline Fernley 66,000 28/12/2023 28/01/2026 - 28/01/2026  28/01/2027 $0.271 $0.062

Options granted carry no dividend or voting rights.

The performance conditions and their relative weighting attached to vesting of options granted to KMP as in the table above
are detailed as below:
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Revenue
Share Price Growth TX Progress
KMP % % %
Luke Reid 50% 25% 25%
James Heath 50% 25% 25%

Jacqueline Fernley* - - -
*The only performance condition attributed to the options granted to Jacqueline Fernley is tenure.

Additional disclosures relating to key management personnel

Shareholding

The number of shares in the Company held during the financial year by each Director and other members of key management
personnel of the Group, including their personally related parties, is set out below:

> Balance at Received Balance at
— the start of as part of Disposals/ the end of
the year remuneration Additions other the year
%rdinary shares
asquale Rombola 5,200,000 - 570,000 - 5,770,000
lan Frazer 1,326,366 - 308,536 - 1,634,902
(&ene Tyson 17,100,000 ; - - 17,100,000
ichard Bund 31,524,277 - 1,956,522 - 33,480,799
%;Jke Reid* 275,923 - 235,294 - 511,217
mes Heath* 275,923 - 251,590 - 527,513
N 55,702,489 - 3,321,942 - 59,024,431
ghares acquired during the period were issued on the exercise of options, using a cashless exercise facility.

ption holding
he number of options over ordinary shares in the Company held during the financial year by each Director and other members
key management personnel of the Group, including their personally related parties, is set out below:

ersq

Balance at Expired/ Balance at
Q the start of forfeited/ the end of
the year Granted Exercised other the year
«_Options over ordinary shares

Qasquale Rombola 300,000 - - - 300,000
an Frazer 300,000 - - - 300,000
LLGene Tyson 200,000 - - - 200,000
Richard Bund 200,000 - - - 200,000
Hyungtae Kim 200,000 - - - 200,000
Caroline Popper** 666,666 - - - 666,666
Jacqueline Fernley - 200,000 - - 200,000
Luke Reid* 1,525,000 4,000,000 (500,000) - 5,025,000
James Heath* 1,450,000 485,000 (500,000) - 1,435,000

4,841,666 4,685,000 (1,000,000) 8,526,666

* Options exercised during the period were exercised using a cashless facility at an exercise price of $0.18.
** Caroline Popper resigned effective 14 June 2023

The number of shares vested and exercisable, vested and not exercisable and the balance of all vested options at the end of
the year for all KMP are disclosed as below:
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Balance at
Vested and Vested and the end of
exercisable unexercisable the year
Options over ordinary shares
Pasquale Rombola 200,000 - 200,000
lan Frazer 200,000 - 200,000
Gene Tyson 133,332 - 133,332
Richard Bund 133,332 - 133,332
Hyungtae Kim 133,332 - 133,332
Caroline Popper* 666,666 - 666,666
Jacqueline Fernley - - -
Luke Reid 950,000 - 950,000
James Heath 900,000 - 900,000
3,316,662 - 3,316,662
* Caroline Popper resigned effective 14 June 2023
_>NB loans have been provided to key management personnel or their related parties.
édditional information
he earnings of the Group for the three years to 30 June 2024 are summarised below:
D 2024 2023 2022
) $ $ $
Eales revenue 12,090,055 5,420,136 4,688,645
—Loss after income tax (19,938,485) (12,680,212) (11,470,429)
cﬁhe factors that are considered to affect total shareholders return (‘TSR') are summarised below:
o 2024 2023 2022
(/ahare price at financial year end ($) 0.16 0.30 0.20
asic earnings per share (cents per share) (4.86) (4.03) (5.14)
G_Diluted earnings per share (cents per share) (4.86) (4.03) (5.14)

Qﬂe Group listed on the ASX on 5 April 2022. As such, information relating to the earnings of the Group is shown for only the
«_period for which the Group has been listed.

Qervice agreements
I I Remuneration and other terms of employment for key management personnel are formalised in service agreements. Details
of these agreements are as follows:

Name: Dr Luke Reid

Title: Chief Executive Officer
Agreement commenced: 5 April 2022

Term of agreement: Ongoing

Details: Base Salary: $300,000 per annum

Performance Based Incentive: $50,000 per annum
Superannuation: 11%, increasing to 11.5% on 1 July 2024
Termination Notice: 12 weeks

Name: James Heath

Title: Chief Financial Officer & Joint Company Secretary
Agreement commenced: 5 April 2022

Term of agreement: Ongoing

Details: Base Salary: $240,000 per annum

Performance Based Incentive: $40,000 per annum
Superannuation: 11%, increasing to 11.5% on 1 July 2024
Termination Notice: 12 weeks
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Key management personnel have no entitlement to termination payments in the event of removal for misconduct.

This concludes the remuneration report, which has been audited.

Auditor's independence declaration

A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out
immediately after this Directors' report.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of Directors, pursuant to section 298(2)(a) of the Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the Directors

DY =
asquale Rombola
_%ector

gg August 2024
risbane

For personal use
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GPO Box 1144
Brisbane, QLD 4001
+61 7 3222 8444

pitcher.com.au

The Directors

Microba Life Sciences Limited
Level 10, 324 Queen Street
Brisbane, QLD, 4000

Auditor’s Independence Declaration

In relation to the independent audit for the year ended 30 June 2024, to the best of my knowledge and belief
there have been:

(i) No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001; and
(ii) No contraventions of APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including

Independence Standards).

This declaration is in respect of Microba Life Sciences Limited and the entities it controlled during the year.

PITGHER PARTNERS

HERYL MASON
Partner

Brisbane, Queensland

29 August 2024
@ bakertill
Brisbane Sydney Newcastle Melbourne Adelaide Perth a ertl y
NETWORK MEMBER
Pitcher Partners is an association of independent firms.
An Independent Queensland Partnership ABN 84 797 724 539. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. pitcher. com.au
Pitcher Partners is a member of the global network of Baker Tilly International Limited, the members of which are separate and independent legal entities.
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Microba Life Sciences Limited
Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
For the year ended 30 June 2024

Note

Revenue
Revenue from contracts with customers 4
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Grant and subsidies income 5
Interest income

Other income

Foreign currency gain

Expenses
Employee benefits and other related costs 7

$§search and development expense
=—=lDepreciation and amortisation expense 8

onsulting fees
arketing and advertising expense

ravel expenses
Legal and intellectual property advisory fees
inance costs 9

ther expenses
otal expenses

—l=0Ss before income tax (expense)/benefit

gwcome tax (expense)/benefit 6

Ooss after income tax (expense)/benefit for the year attributable to the owners
(ﬁf Microba Life Sciences Limited

E)Other comprehensive income/(loss)
ems that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
reign currency translation

L
@ther comprehensive income/(loss) for the year, net of tax

LIJotaI comprehensive loss for the year attributable to the owners of Microba Life
Sciences Limited

Basic earnings per share 35
Diluted earnings per share 35

2024 2023
$ $
12,090,055 5,420,136
(6,184,628)  (2,741,873)
5,905,427 2,678,263
5,766,208 6,367,288
1,004,728 878,049
51,543 3,083
99,864 367,547
(11,617,355)  (7,809,365)
(10,836,162)  (9,337,113)
(2,870,274)  (1,641,831)
(2,253,722)  (989,844)
(786,345)  (692,707)
(561,363)  (545,459)
(733,090)  (145,784)
(69,221) (60,412)
(3,090,027)  (1,746,284)
(32,817,559) (22,968,799)

(19,989,789)

51,304

(12,674,569)

(5,643)

(19,938,485)

(100,481)

(12,680,212)

59,208

(100,481)

59,208

(20,038,966)

(12,621,004)

Cents

(4.86)
(4.86)

Cents

(4.03)
(4.03)

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables

Inventories

Financial assets

Other assets

Total current assets

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Right-of-use assets
tangible assets
—=hOtal non-current assets

gotal assets
qSiabilities

urrent liabilities
ayables
orrowings

—l=case liabilities
mployee benefits

gontract liabilities
come tax payable
ther liabilities

gotal current liabilities

‘G-Son-current liabilities
ease liabilities
eferred tax
mployee benefits
L _Other liabilities
Ootal non-current liabilities

LLTotaI liabilities

Net assets

Equity

Issued capital
Reserves
Accumulated losses

Total equity

Note

10
11
12
13
14

15
16
17

18
19
20
21
23

22

20

21
22

24
25

2024 2023
$ $

20,889,451 32,043,874
8,102,722 7,236,200
2,243,560 644,427
204,436 204,436
809,722 1,396,124
32,249,891 41,525,061
2,878,281 1,927,555
1,032,237 653,327
21,879,898 2,847,090
25,790,416 5,427,972
58,040,307 46,953,033
5,877,959 4,985,348
395,387 358,726
810,134 543,002
641,172 582,586
2,182,071 1,303,806
5,886 5,419
2,454,290 45,546
12,366,899 7,824,433
373,084 234,064
1,564,933 -
225,649 170,004
2,293,740 150,696
4,457,406 554,764
16,824,305 8,379,197
41,216,002 38,573,836
102,881,628 80,373,986
2,155,554 2,082,545
(63,821,180) (43,882,695)
41,216,002 38,573,836

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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Balance at 1 July 2022

Loss after income tax expense for the year
Other comprehensive income for the year, net
of tax

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the
year

Transactions with owners in their capacity as
>¥ners:
=== ontributions of equity, net of transaction costs

ote 24)
hare-based payments (options) (note 26)
hares issued upon exercise of options (note

@’

Ugalance at 30 June 2023

onal u

Ugalance at 1 July 2023

ES}OSS after income tax benefit for the year
ther comprehensive loss for the year, net of
X

“=Fotal comprehensive loss for the year

Transactions with owners in their capacity as
wners:

Contributions of equity, net of transaction costs

(note 24)

Share-based payments (options) (note 26)

Shares issued upon exercise of options (note

24)

Shares issued for acquisition of subsidiaries

(note 34)

Balance at 30 June 2024

Foreign
Share-based currency
Issued payment translation Accumulated
capital reserve reserve losses Total equity
$ $ $ $ $

62,884,010 1,776,510 78,167 (31,202,483) 33,536,204
- - - (12,680,212) (12,680,212)

- - 59,208 - 59,208
- - 59,208 (12,680,212) (12,621,004)
17,237,644 - - - 17,237,644
- 420,992 - - 420,992

252,332 (252,332) - - -
80,373,986 1,945,170 137,375 (43,882,695) 38,573,836

Foreign
Share-based currency
Issued payment translation Accumulated
capital reserve reserve losses Total equity
$ $ $ $ $

80,373,986 1,945,170 137,375 (43,882,695) 38,573,836
- - - (19,938,485) (19,938,485)
- - (100,481) - (100,481)
- - (100,481) (19,938,485) (20,038,966)
18,739,374 - - - 18,739,374
- 690,611 - - 690,611

877,121 (517,121) - - 360,000
2,891,147 - - - 2,891,147
102,881,628 2,118,660 36,894 (63,821,180) 41,216,002

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers
Payments to suppliers and employees

Other income

Interest received

Subsidies and grants received
Interest and other finance costs paid
Income taxes paid

Net cash used in operating activities

sh flows from investing activities
===Rayment for purchase of business, net of cash acquired

ayments for property, plant and equipment
ayments for intangible assets

ubsidies and grants received
G.&et cash used in investing activities

%ash flows from financing activities
roceeds from issue of shares
—Repayment of borrowings

rincipal portion of lease payments
roceeds from borrowings

hare issue transaction costs
8et cash from financing activities

LNet increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
q.éash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year
mfects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents

L-Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year

O
LL

Note

28

34
15
17

24

24

10

2024 2023
$ $
12,477,741 6,358,032
(35,299,444) (22,223,959)
(22,821,703) (15,865,927)

51,543 3,083
1,004,728 799,578
6,299,048 2,730,074

(69,221) (60,412)

(31,331) (224)
(15,566,936) (12,393,828)
(9,570,127) -
(1,487,327)  (550,462)
(2,891,726)  (2,486,428)

- 38,087
(13,949,180)  (2,998,803)
20,356,718 17,833,270

(434,335)  (484,607)
(765,091)  (547,837)
494,233 479,270
(1,257,344)  (595,626)
18,394,181 16,684,470
(11,121,935) 1,291,839
32,043,874 30,580,673

(32,488) 171,362
20,889,451 32,043,874

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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Note 1. General information

The financial statements cover Microba Life Sciences Limited as a consolidated group (referred to hereafter as the 'Group' or
'Microba') consisting of Microba Life Sciences Limited (referred to hereafter as the 'Company' or 'parent entity') and the entities
it controlled at the end of, or during, the year.

Microba Life Sciences Limited is a listed public company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Its
registered office and principal place of business is Level 10, 324 Queen Street, Brisbane, Queensland, Australia.

A description of the nature of the Group's operations and its principal activities are included in the Directors' report, which is
not part of the financial statements.

The financial statements were authorised for issue, in accordance with a resolution of Directors, on 29 August 2024. The
Directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial statements.

Note 2. Material accounting policy information

_>1:he accounting policies that are material to the Group are set out below. The accounting policies adopted are consistent with
Qose of the previous financial year, unless otherwise stated.

Gasis of preparation
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and
terpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB'), International Financial Reporting Standards
U()IFRS') and the Corporations Act 2001, as appropriate for for-profit oriented entities.

jlistorical cost convention
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for, where applicable, the
@valuation to fair value of certain classes of assets and liabilities as described in the accounting policies.

Gritical accounting estimates
he preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
%anagement to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies. The areas involving a
igher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial
atements, are disclosed in note 3.

q;inciples of consolidation

e consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Microba Life Sciences Limited
«_(‘Company' or 'parent entity') as at 30 June 2024 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended. Microba Life
dciences Limited and its subsidiaries together are referred to in these financial statements as the 'Group' or 'Microba'.

I | All inter-company balances and transactions, including any unrealised profits or losses have been eliminated on consolidation.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is obtained by the Group and are derecognised from the date
that control ceases.

Rounding of amounts

The Company is of a kind referred to in Corporations Instrument 2016/191 Rounding in Financial/Directors' Reports, issued
by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission, relating to "rounding off". Amounts in this report have been rounded
off in accordance with that Corporations Instrument to the nearest dollar.

New or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations not yet mandatory

There are no standards, interpretations or amendments to existing standards that are effective for the first time for the financial
year beginning 1 July 2023 that have a material impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods or will affect the current or
future periods.

New standards, amendments to standards and/or interpretations effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July

2024 have not been early adopted in preparing these financial statements. None would have had a material effect on the
consolidated financial statements.
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Note 2. Material accounting policy information (continued)

Going concern
The financial report has been prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes continuity of normal business activities and
the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the ordinary course of business.

The consolidated entity incurred a loss from ordinary activities of $19,938,485 during the year ended 30 June 2024 (2023:
loss of $12,680,212) and has a net cash outflow from operating activities of $15,566,936 (2023 : $12,393,828). The Group
held cash and cash equivalents of $20,889,451 at 30 June 2024 (2023: $32,043,874).

In considering the ability of the consolidated entity to continue as a going concern, the Directors considered the following
matters:

the consolidated entity has the ability to raise additional capital through the issue of equity and is well supported by its
major, and high-quality shareholders;

the consolidated entity has a successful history of revenue growth within its testing and supplements business, whilst
strategically collaborating with high quality peers within the industry, opening up opportunities and demonstrating success
not only locally, but internationally;

the consolidated entity has a successful history of progressing its drug therapeutic development programs and has been
successful in receiving R&D tax incentives under the R&D tax incentive scheme; and

the consolidated entity has the ability to reduce expenditure levels should this be required in the foreseeable future.

only. .

Gﬂaving assessed the future cash flows for the 12 month period subsequent to this report, the Directors believe that the
nsolidated entity will continue to operate as a going concern for at least one year from the date of this report. Therefore, the
irectors consider it is appropriate to prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.

—.Foreign currency translation
C-Ghe financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Group's functional and presentation currency.

Goreign currency transactions and balances
oreign currency transactions are translated into Australian dollars using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
%ansactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation
financial year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in
rofit or loss.

q;reign operations

e assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated into Australian dollars using the exchange rates at the reporting

«_date. The revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated into Australian dollars using the exchange rate on the
ate of the transactions or the average exchange rates, which approximate the rates at the dates of the transactions, for the

Qeriod. All resulting foreign exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income through the foreign currency

LLr_pserve in equity.

Revenue recognition
The Group recognises revenue as follows:

Revenue from contracts with customers
The Group recognises revenue at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled in
exchange for fulfilling the performance obligation(s) agreed in the contract.

Microba recognises revenue from contracts with customers as follows:
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Note 2. Material accounting policy information (continued)

Personal Testing & Transferred at a point in time

Supplements Revenue from Personal Testing and Supplements which is recognised at a point in time is
recognised when Microba’s performance obligation, being the delivery of a microbiome
testing report or relevant supplements ordered are delivered to the customer, is satisfied.

In instances where a microbiome testing kit is sold to a distributor, Microba recognises
revenue attributable to the sale of the kit at the time of delivery to the distributor.

Personal Testing Transferred over time
Revenue from Personal Testing which is recognised over time is recognised as the agreed
goods and services are delivered and the contracted performance obligations are met.

Revenue is recorded at a value which reflects the relative stand-alone selling price of each
distinct good or service, taking into consideration the transaction price of the contract,
including variable consideration (if any).

y

Where contracted minimum order quantities exist, revenue is recorded over time in
alignment with the consumption of goods and services by the customer. In the instance it
becomes likely that the customer will not exercise their remaining right to the contracted
goods and services, the remaining contracted revenue will be recognised in accordance with
the pattern of rights exercised by the customer during the contract period to date, and the
expected future exercise of rights.

esearch Testing Recognised over time
Revenue from Research Testing services contracts is recognised over time as the
contracted services are delivered and the performance obligations are satisfied.

The stand-alone selling price for each distinct (service) component of a relevant contract is
determined and revenue is recognised to the extent of the performance obligation
discharged.

rsonal vise onl

@ontract liabilities

q;ontract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer goods or services to the customer for which the Group has
eived consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. Amounts recorded as contract liabilities are

¢_subsequently recognised as revenue when the Group transfers the contracted goods and services to the customer.

cher Income
LL

Interest
Interest income is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable certainty that the grant will be received and all grant conditions
are met. Grants relating to expense items are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match the grant to the
costs they are compensating. Such periods will depend on whether costs are capitalised or expensed as incurred.

Grants relating to capitalised development costs are recognised in Other liabilities (deferred government grants) and are
recognised over the period necessary to match the grant income with the amortisation of the capitalised development costs.

The Group's research and development (R&D) activities are eligible under an Australian Government tax incentive for rebate
of research and development expenditure. The R&D Tax Incentives for the Group are recognised as Government Grant
Income and are recognised when there is a reasonable expectation that the Group will be able to realise the benefit and when
the amount can be reliably estimated.
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Note 2. Material accounting policy information (continued)

Income tax

The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable on that period's taxable income based on the applicable
income tax rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted by the changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary
differences, unused tax losses and the adjustment recognised for prior periods, where applicable.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to be applied when the
assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates that are enacted or substantively enacted, except for
when the deferred income tax asset or liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting nor taxable
profits.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that future
taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

jgg carrying amount of recognised and unrecognised deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date. Deferred tax
—assets recognised are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that future taxable profits will be available for the

rrying amount to be recovered. Previously unrecognised deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
%aat there are future taxable profits available to recover the asset.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against
rrent tax liabilities and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, and they relate to the same taxable authority on
mither the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend to settle simultaneously.

jax consolidation
The parent entity and its Australian subsidiaries have implemented the tax consolidation legislation and have formed a tax-
cBonsolidated group. This means that:

G each entity recognises their own current and deferred tax amounts in respect of the transactions, events and balances

of the entity; and
the parent entity assumes the current tax liability and any deferred tax assets relating to tax losses, arising in the
e subsidiary, and recognises a contribution to (or distribution from) the subsidiaries.

@ash and cash equivalents

q:sh and cash equivalents includes cash at bank, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid
estments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which

«_are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Qash under escrow has been recognised as Restricted Cash in the Statement of Financial Position. Refer to note 10 for
details.

Receivables

Receivables from contracts with customers are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less any allowance for expected credit losses. Trade receivables are generally due for
settlement within 14-90 days.

The Group has applied the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses, which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on days overdue.

Inventories

Raw materials and finished goods are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value on a 'weighted average' basis. Cost
comprises of direct materials and delivery costs, direct labour, import duties and other taxes. Costs of purchased inventory
are determined after deducting rebates and discounts received or receivable.

Property, plant and equipment

Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.
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Note 2. Material accounting policy information (continued)

Depreciation is calculated on a diminishing value basis to write off the net cost of each item of property, plant and equipment
(excluding land) using their respective allocated rates as follows:

Furniture, fixtures and fittings at cost 5%-20%
Computer equipment at cost 25%-50%
Laboratory equipment at cost 10%-25%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when there is no future economic benefit to the
Group. Gains and losses between the carrying amount and the disposal proceeds are taken to profit or loss.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired as part of a business combination, other than goodwill, are initially measured at their fair value at
ﬁi date of the acquisition. Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at cost. Indefinite life intangible assets
—are not amortised and are subsequently measured at cost less any impairment. Finite life intangible assets are subsequently
easured at cost less amortisation and any impairment. The gains or losses recognised in profit or loss arising from the
gerecognition of intangible assets are measured as the difference between net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
e intangible asset. The method and useful lives of finite life intangible assets are reviewed annually. Changes in the expected

pattern of consumption or useful life are accounted for prospectively by changing the amortisation method or period.

oodwill
goodwill arises on the acquisition of a business. Goodwill is not amortised. Instead, goodwill is tested annually for impairment,
r more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and is carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. Impairment losses on goodwill are taken to profit or loss and are not subsequently reversed.

c@rand

rand acquired in a business combination is amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of its expected benefit, being
Gs finite life of 15 years.

WUstomer relationships
ustomer relationships acquired in a business combination are amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of their
pected benefit, being their finite life of 15 years.

QEChnology

«_Technology acquired in a business combination is amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of its expected benefit as

d)llows:

I I Technology (Testing Kits) - 5 years
Technology (Supplements) - 15 years

System development costs, product development costs and intellectual property
Costs incurred in developing Microba's proprietary platforms, products and intellectual property are capitalised when the Group
can demonstrate all of the following:

the technical feasibility of completing the asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

the intention to complete the asset and use or sell it;

the ability to use or sell the asset;

how the asset will generate probable future economic benefits;

the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the
asset; and

e the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the asset during its development.

Capitalised development costs for systems and products, and intellectual property, are amortised over their estimated useful
lives of 4 years on a straight-line, and 8 years on a diminishing value basis respectively, commencing from the time at which
the costs are incurred. The amortisation method applied to an intangible asset is consistent with the estimated consumption
of economic benefits of the asset.
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Note 2. Material accounting policy information (continued)

All carrying values of intangible assets are assessed for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the assets may be impaired.

Subsequent to initial recognition, costs recognised as an intangible asset are measured at cost, less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses.

Research and development expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense when incurred. Development expenditure which does not
meet the recognition requirements for intangible assets, as disclosed above, is recognised as an expense when incurred.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment annually or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount.

_>Bacoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. The value-in-use is the

resent value of the estimated future cash flows relating to the asset using a pre-tax discount rate specific to the asset or

%Sh-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Assets that do not have independent cash flows are grouped together to
rm a cash-generating unit.

G_l}npairment losses in respect of individual assets are recognised immediately in profit or loss unless the asset is measured at
revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease and is recognised in other
%omprehensive income to the extent that it does not exceed the amount in the revaluation surplus for the same asset.

. Fair value measurement
hen an asset or liability, financial or non-financial, is measured at fair value for recognition or disclosure purposes, the fair
alue is based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
arket participants at the measurement date; and assumes that the transaction will take place either: in the principal market;
Or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market.

(/aair value is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming
ey act in their economic best interests. For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement is based on its highest and best
se. Valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair
QJue, are used, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

_lIssued capital
drdinary shares are classified as equity.

I | Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax,
from the proceeds.

Business combinations
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations regardless of whether equity instruments
or other assets are acquired.

The consideration transferred is the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred, equity instruments issued
or liabilities incurred by the acquirer to former owners of the acquiree. All acquisition costs are expensed as incurred to profit
or loss.

On the acquisition of a business, the Group assesses the financial assets acquired and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic conditions, the Group's operating or
accounting policies and other pertinent conditions in existence at the acquisition-date.

Contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at the acquisition-date fair value. Subsequent changes
in the fair value of the contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is recognised in profit or loss.

The difference between the acquisition-date fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the acquiree and the fair
value of the consideration transferred is recognised as goodwill.
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Note 3. Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements and estimates in relation
to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management bases its judgements, estimates and
assumptions on historical experience and on other various factors, including expectations of future events, management
believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. The judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities (refer to the respective notes) within the next
financial year are discussed below.

Capitalisation of system and product development costs and intellectual property
Intellectual property and development projects where knowledge and understanding gained from research and practical
experience are directed towards developing new products, service offerings or processes, are recognised as intangible assets
in the Statement of Financial Position when they meet the criteria for capitalisation. Development costs may be capitalised if
the Group can demonstrate the technical and commercial feasibility of completing the service offering, product or process, as
well as the intention and ability to complete the development and use or sell the asset. It must also be probable that future
>%onomic benefits related to the asset will flow to the Group and the acquisition cost is able to be reliably measured.
he reported value includes all directly attributable costs, such as those for materials and services as well as compensation
% employees. Individual assessment is made of major ongoing research and development projects to determine whether
ese criteria have been met. Assessment of these various projects is affected by significant judgement.

G}hare-based payment transactions
he Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity
%xstruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by using the Black-Scholes model taking into
ccount the terms and conditions upon which the instruments were granted. The accounting estimates and assumptions
_relating to equity-settled share-based payments would have no impact on the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
c@e next annual reporting period but may impact profit or loss and equity.

Gevenue from contracts with customers
etermining the timing and amount of revenue recognition from complex contracts with customers requires management to
%xercise judgement in relation to the timing of the fulfilment of performance obligations and the allocation of the transaction
rice to those specific performance obligations.

G_Bair value measurement hierarchy
qr;\(/a Group is required to classify all assets and liabilities, measured at fair value, using a three level hierarchy, based on the
est level of input that is significant to the entire fair value measurement, being: Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in
«_active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date; Level 2: Inputs other than
uoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and Level 3:
nobservable inputs for the asset or liability. Considerable judgement is required to determine what is significant to fair value
and therefore which category the asset or liability is placed in can be subjective.

The fair value of assets and liabilities classified as level 3 is determined by the use of valuation models. These include
discounted cash flow analysis or the use of observable inputs that require significant adjustments based on unobservable
inputs.

Estimation of useful lives of assets

The Group determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges for its property, plant and
equipment and finite life intangible assets. The useful lives could change significantly as a result of technical innovations or
some other event. The depreciation and amortisation charge will increase where the useful lives are less than previously
estimated lives, or technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold will be written off or written
down.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group tests whether goodwill has been impaired on an annual basis. Management judgement is applied to identify the
relevant cash generating unit (CGU). The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculations,
which require the use of assumptions and discounting of future cash flows. These assumptions are based on best estimates
at the time of performing the valuation. Cash flow projections do not include restructuring activities that the Group is not yet
committed to or significant future investments that will enhance the performance of the assets of the CGU being tested.
Goodwill is monitored by management at the level of operating segments identified in note 36.
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Note 3. Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets

The Group assesses impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets at each
reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the Group and to the particular asset that may lead to impairment. If an
impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined. This involves fair value less costs of disposal or
value-in-use calculations, which incorporate a number of key estimates and assumptions.

Research and Development ('/R&D’) Tax Incentive

The Group lodges annual returns to claim eligible expenditure under the R&D Tax Incentive scheme with the Australian
Government. The application of the R&D provisions and the corresponding recognition in the balance sheet of the receivable
and grant income in the profit or loss, requires a level of judgement and the maintenance of appropriate records to support
amounts claimed.

Recovery of deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences only if the Group considers it is probable that future
yﬁable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. Deferred tax assets have been reversed
==due to the loss making position of the Group. At present, there are no deferred tax assets recognised owing to the ongoing
stes incurred to date and uncertainty around the expectation of profits going forward.

Qusiness combinations
The Group applies provisional accounting for any business combination. Any reassessment of the balances during the earlier
@f the finalisation of the provisional accounting or 12 months from acquisition-date are adjusted for retrospectively as part of
e provisional accounting rules in accordance with AASB 3 'Business Combinations'. The fair value of assets acquired,
%bilities and contingent liabilities assumed are initially estimated by the Group taking into consideration all available
information at the reporting date. Fair value adjustments on the finalisation of the business combination accounting is
—retrospective, where applicable, to the period the combination occurred and may have an impact on the assets and liabilities,
epreciation and amortisation reported. At 30 June 2024, the business combination accounting for the acquisition of Invivo
glinical Limited is still provisional (note 34).

ontingent consideration
8he contingent consideration liability is the difference between the total purchase consideration, usually on an acquisition of
business combination, and the amounts paid or settled up to the reporting date, discounted to net present value. The
Iculation of the fair value of the liability is subject to certain key judgements around the probability of the achievement of
andated performance targets, discount rates and assumptions surrounding tenure. At each reporting date, the contingent
%\sideration liability is reassessed against revised estimates and any increase or decrease in the net present value of the
ility will result in a corresponding gain or loss to profit or loss.
| -
pairment of goodwill
he Group tests whether goodwill has been impaired on an annual basis. Management judgement is applied to identify the
LLr_eIevant cash generating unit (CGU). The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculations,
which require the use of assumptions and discounting of future cash flows. These assumptions are based on best estimates
at the time of performing the valuation. Cash flow projections do not include restructuring activities that the Group is not yet
committed to or significant future investments that will enhance the performance of the assets of the CGU being tested.
Goodwill is monitored by management at the level of operating segments identified in note 36.

Note 4. Revenue from contracts with customers

2024 2023
$ $
Personal testing and supplements - revenue recognised at a point in time 8,346,305 2,091,928
Personal testing - revenue recognised over time 1,115,512 981,752
Research testing - revenue recognised over time 2,628,238 2,346,456

12,090,055 5,420,136
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Note 5. Grant and subsidies income

Research and Development Tax Incentive
Other grant and subsidies income

Grant and subsidies income

Note 6. Income tax

Components of tax expense

===Eurrent tax expense
(Deferred tax expense

Q1come tax (benefit)/lexpense

%come tax reconciliation

-

@rima facie tax payable on profit before income tax is reconciled to the income tax
xpense as follows:
grima facie income tax on loss before tax at 25.00% (2023: 25.00%)

dd tax effect of:
hare-based payments
ccounting expense subject to R&D Tax Incentive
&D Tax Incentive revenue
er
Tax losses and other deferred taxes not recognised

O

I I Income tax expense

Deferred tax

The balance comprises:

Deferred tax assets:

Employee benefits

Accruals and other liabilities

Lease liabilities

Capital raising costs

Provision for impairment loss

Section 40-880 blackhole expenditure
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2024 2023
$ $
5,758,649 6,094,543
7,559 272,745
5,766,208 6,367,288
2024 2023
$ $
5,886 5,643
(57,190) -
(51,304) 5,643
2024 2023
$ $
(4,997,447)  (3,168,642)
172,653 105,248
3,444,420 3,489,653
(1,402,212)  (1,523,636)
9,992 8,342
2,721,290 1,094,678
4,946,143 3,174,285
(51,304) 5,643
2024 2023
$ $
216,705 185,361
380,195 175,376
270,589 190,853
11,187 348,248
4,482 -
693,885 22,401
1,577,043 922,239
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Note 6. Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities:
Intangible assets

Right of use assets

Property, plant and equipment
Prepayments

Unrealised foreign currency

Deferred tax asset/(liability)
Derecognition of deferred tax asset®

Net deferred tax asset/(liability)

>ﬂax losses not recognised

(1,558,487) (83,363)
(254,823)  (163,332)
(108,415)  (123,118)
(189,263)  (148,497)

(13,143) (46,243)

(2,124,131)  (564,553)
(547,088) 357,686

(1,017,845)  (357,686)

(1,564,933) -

Ghe Group has not recognised deferred tax balances due to the uncertainty of losses being recovered in future periods.
Gnused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised is $8,322,289 (2023: $4,301,537).

qﬁhanges in applicable tax rates
(ﬂhere have been no changes to the applicable tax rates during the year ended 30 June 2024.

:Eote 7. Employee benefits and other related costs

©
-

Ghort term benefits

hare-based payments

uperannuation guarantee contributions
qﬁther employee benefits and related costs

O

Bote 8. Depreciation and amortisation expense

LL

Depreciation expense - property, plant and equipment
Depreciation expense - right of use assets
Amortisation expense - intangible assets

Note 9. Finance costs

Interest expense - premium funding
Interest expense on lease liability
Other interest expense
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2024 2023
$ $
9,302,691 6,234,102
690,611 420,992
821,705 573,092
802,348 581,179
11,617,355 7,809,365
2024 2023
$ $
728,030 659,008
705,310 505,814
1,436,934 477,009
2,870,274 1,641,831
2024 2023
$ $
15,705 15,289
50,622 44,003
2,894 1,120
69,221 60,412
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Note 10. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank
Cash on deposit
Restricted cash

2024 2023
$ $
16,674,451 18,681,587
4,215,000 12,220,668
- 1,141,619
20,889,451 32,043,874

The restricted cash balance held at 30 June 2023 represents USD758,394 cash held in escrow to meet the Group's payment
obligations under the Technical Development Agreement (TDA) between the Group and Ginkgo Bioworks, Inc. Under the
TDA, cash sufficient to pay for development activities over the next 6 months is to be held in an escrow bank account until the
development activity payments become due. There is no restricted cash balance at 30 June 2024 as all obligations under the

agreement have been discharged accordingly.

-==Note 11. Receivables

o

q-éurrent assets
(/Beceivables from contracts with customers
jontract assets from contracts with customers
esearch and development tax incentive receivable
===Ether receivables
('Gess: Allowance for expected credit losses

-
@

2024 2023
$ $
1,549,003 602,310
105,202 122,333
5,993,291 6,071,997
473,155 439,560
(17,929) -
8,102,722 7,236,200

ghe Group's exposure to credit and currency risk and expected credit losses related to receivables held are disclosed in note
7.

%)te 12. Inventories

L

o

Current assets
aw materials and consumables - at cost
Stock on hand - at cost

Note 13. Financial assets

Current assets
Cash on deposit
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2024 2023
$ $
1,290,758 644,427
952,802 -
2,243,560 644,427
2024 2023
$ $
204,436 204,436
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Note 14. Other assets

Current assets
Prepayments
Other current assets (credit cards)

Note 15. Property, plant and equipment

>§n-current assets
===j=aboratory equipment at cost
Gccumulated depreciation

@

qjurniture, fixtures and fittings at cost
ccumulated depreciation

QOmputer equipment at cost

Eccumulated depreciation

:otal property, plant and equipment

@

(/Reconciliations

2024 2023
$ $
802,770 1,396,124
6,952 -
809,722 1,396,124
2024 2023
$ $
6,127,249 4,519,873
(3,473,671)  (2,710,024)
2,653,578 1,809,849
147,561 55,256
(87,637) (18,323)
59,924 36,933
487,638 250,248
(322,859)  (169,475)
164,779 80,773
2,878,281 1,927,555

L=Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set out

qgelow:
Q.

L

O

I-I'Balance at 1 July 2022
Additions
Disposals
Exchange differences
Depreciation expense

Balance at 30 June 2023

Additions

Additions through business combinations (note 34)
Disposals

Exchange differences

Depreciation expense

Balance at 30 June 2024
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Furniture,
Laboratory fixtures and Computer
equipment fittings equipment Total
$ $ $ $
1,891,985 37,214 83,853 2,013,052
488,503 11,400 50,559 550,462
(11,835) (3,576) (5,663) (21,074)
44,123 - - 44,123
(602,927) (8,105) (47,976) (659,008)
1,809,849 36,933 80,773 1,927,555
1,371,129 6,783 109,415 1,487,327
127,735 27,155 38,522 193,412
(2,852) - - (2,852)
1,597 (162) (566) 869
(653,880) (10,785) (63,365) (728,030)
2,653,578 59,924 164,779 2,878,281
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Note 16. Right-of-use assets

2024 2023

$ $
Non-current assets
Buildings - right-of-use 2,882,817 1,942,481
Less: Accumulated depreciation (1,905,278) (1,354,244)

977,539 588,237

Laboratory equipment - right-of-use 72,744 72,744
Less: Accumulated depreciation (18,046) (7,654)

54,698 65,090
Total carrying amount of lease assets 1,032,237 653,327

“Reconciliations

===Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set out

elow:
O Laboratory
q) Buildings Equipment Total
$ $ $
alance at 1 July 2022 795,305 - 795,305
dditions 291,092 72,744 363,836
=== epreciation expense (498,160) (7,654) (505,814)
alance at 30 June 2023 588,237 65,090 653,327
dditions 381,863 - 381,863
@dditions through business combinations (note 34) 704,641 - 704,641
ngchange differences (2,284) - (2,284)
Lepreciation expense (694,918) (10,392) (705,310)
q-ealance at 30 June 2024 977,539 54,698 1,032,237

The Group leases office and laboratory spaces under separate lease agreements. These leases have a term of between 1
nd 6 years, with CPI increases to be applied each year. On renewal, the terms of the relevant leases are renegotiated by the
roup.

I-I'I'he Group also holds a lease over Laboratory Equipment with a 3 year term. The lease costs are fixed for the term of the
agreement and ownership of the underlying assets will transfer to the Group at the conclusion of the lease.
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Note 17. Intangible assets

Non-current assets
Goodwill

Capitalised system development at cost
Accumulated amortisation

Intellectual property at cost
Accumulated amortisation

stomer relationships at fair value
===ACCUmulated amortisation

-

Gechnology at fair value
Accumulated amortisation

e

apitalised product development at cost
ccumulated amortisation

rand at fair value
ccumulated amortisation

nal us

SO

otal intangible assets

For pe
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2024 2023
$ $
8,450,080 -
5,048,577 2,755,512
(2,011,230)  (1,541,032)
3,037,347 1,214,480
617,768 417,595
(290,744)  (231,747)
327,024 185,848
2,078,719 -
(78,976) -
1,999,743 -
2,576,567 -
(188,836) -
2,387,731 -
1,962,586 1,528,613
(544,601) (81,851)
1,417,985 1,446,762
4,428,229 -
(168,241) -
4,259,988 -
21,879,898 2,847,090

57



Microba Life Sciences Limited
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
30 June 2024

Note 17. Intangible assets (continued)
Reconciliations

Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set out
below:

Capitalised Customer Capitalised
system Intellectual relationshi Technolog product
Goodwill development property ps y development Brand Total
$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $
Balance at 1
July 2022 - 644,366 209,568 - - - - 853,934
Additions - 908,322 49,493 - - 1,528,613 - 2,486,428
Disposals - (148) (16,115) - - - - (16,263)
Amortisation
>§pense - (338,060) (57,098) - - (81,851) - (477,009)
alance at
go June
023 - 1,214,480 185,848 - - 1,446,762 - 2,847,090
Additions - 2,257,580 200,173 - - 433,973 - 2,891,726
(Additions
rough
%siness
mbinations
—lnote 34) 8,496,766 40,517 - 2,090,203 2,590,803 - 4,452,695 17,670,984
xchange
gﬁ‘erences (46,686) (170) - (10,747) (12,471) - (22,894) (92,968)
mortisation
prense - (475,060) (58,997) (79,713)  (190,601) (462,750) (169,813) (1,436,934)
(/aalance at
0 June
024 8,450,080 3,037,347 327,024 1,999,743 2,387,731 1,417,985 4,259,988 21,879,898

Impairment test for goodwill
S=Goodwill is tested annually for impairment. At 30 June 2024, the Directors used a Value in Use (VIU) approach to assess the
(CBarrying value of goodwill. No impairment was recognised by the Group.

LI-For impairment testing, the Group considers its previous business combination of Invivo Clinical, which resulted in goodwill
upon acquisition, to be a synergistic opportunity for its testing and supplements operating segment. Therefore, the Group has
allocated this goodwill upon acquisition entirely to the testing and supplements cash generating unit (CGU), which is also an
operating and reportable segment.

The recoverable amount of the testing and supplements CGU has been determined based on a calculation using cash flow
projections over a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the five-year forecast period are extrapolated using the estimated
terminal growth rate.

Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations
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Note 17. Intangible assets (continued)

The key assumptions for the testing and supplements CGU supporting the disclosed recoverable value are as follows
(classified as level 3 inputs in the fair value hierarchy):

e Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) for year 1 is based on financial budgets approved
by the board of directors;

e  beyond the first year, EBITDA is expected to grow at a compound annual growth rate (CAGR) of 6.8% over the five year
forecast;

e apost tax discount rate of 13.6%; and

e terminal growth rate of 2% at the end of the forecast period.

Both the EBITDA growth rate beyond FY24 and the terminal growth rate ranges are derived from management's best estimate
of revenue and operating expenditure growth, taking into account changes in industry, customer market prospects, future
product developments and technological innovation. Profit before income tax expense is then adjusted for amounts related to
tax.

zhe discount rate represents the current market assessment of the risks specific to the CGU, taking into consideration the
Qme value of money coupled with other risk factors. It is based on the Group's weighted average cost of capital.

Qesults of impairment testing and sensitivity to changes in assumptions

Gjhe VIU calculation indicates that the recoverable amount of the testing and supplements CGU is adequately greater than the
Ugarrying value of the CGU, and therefore no impairment was recognised by the Group.

jhe following table sets out key parameters that need to change for there to be no headroom available when comparing the
—calculation of the estimated recoverable amount of the CGU against the carrying value of the CGU at 30 June 2024:

CG 2024

Ghange required for carrying amount to equal recoverable amount %
%iscount rate increase 5.5%
Ludgeted EBITDA growth rate decline (19.0%)

qjhe Directors and management have considered and assessed reasonably possible changes for other key assumptions and
q:bve not identified any instances that could cause the carrying amount of testing and supplements CGU to exceed its
overable amount.

L
dote 18. Payables

LL 2024 2023

$ $
Current liabilities
Trade creditors 3,697,373 2,981,648
Employee payables and accruals 1,224,552 1,132,592
Sundry creditors and accruals 956,034 871,108

5,877,959 4,985,348

Refer to note 27 for further information on financial risk management objectives and policies.
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Note 19. Borrowings

2024 2023
$ $
Current liabilities
Credit card liability - unsecured - 23,237
Insurance premium funding - unsecured 395,387 335,489
395,387 358,726

Refer to note 27 for further information on financial risk management objectives and policies.

Insurance premium funding

Insurance premium funding is utilised by the Group to evenly distribute annual insurance premiums owed over a 10 (2023:

11) month period.

===Note 20. Lease liabilities

O 2024 2023
$ $
q-éurrent liabilities
(/Dease liability 810,134 543,002
qlon-current liabilities
Eease liability 373,084 234,064
C 1,183,218 777,066
(@) 2024 2023
N s s
-
q§ash outflow in relation to leases 815,713 591,840
ChNote 21. Employee benefits
by 2024 2023
o $ $
LLEurrent liabilities
Employee benefits 641,172 582,586
Non-current liabilities
Employee benefits 225,649 170,004
866,821 752,590
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Note 22. Other liabilities

2024 2023
$ $
Current liabilities
Deferred Government Grants - R&D Tax Incentive 127,160 43,230
Novated lease liability 2,792 2,316
Contingent consideration payable 2,324,338 -
2,454,290 45,546
Non-current liabilities
Contingent consideration payable 1,834,754 -
Deferred Government Grants - R&D Tax Incentive 458,986 150,696
> 2,293,740 150,696
4,748,030 196,242

-

Qhe contingent consideration payable is a pre-determined fixed sum that will be disbursed to the previous shareholders of
qivivo Clinical Limited, comprising both cash and shares. This payment is contingent upon the attainment of specific revenue
rgets in both Year 1 and Year 2 of the company's operation post acquisition. Management has assessed the fair value of
e contingent consideration by calculating the present value of anticipated future cash flows, factoring in the likelihood of
jeeting the specified revenue targets. Refer to note 34 for further details.

===}:he contingent consideration payable has been valued using a discounted cash flow model that utilises certain unobservable
vel 3 inputs. These key assumptions include a risk adjusted post tax discount rate of 9.1% and expected probabilities of
cchieving sales targets for the two periods.
Sensitivity

Onobservable input Methodology

iscount rate

%isk adjusted post-tax

S=Expected revenue
(Probability

The post-tax discount rate used in the valuation
has been determined based on required rate of
returns of listed companies in the biotechnology
industry (having regards to their stage of
development, size and risk adjustments).

This is determined using actual sales volumes
for FY24 and forecasting sales volumes for FY25
and FY26.

Note 23. Contract liabilities

Current liabilities

Contracts with customers where services are transferred at a point in time
Contracts with customers where services are transferred over time

A 0.5% increase in the post-tax discount rate
would decrease the contingent consideration by
0.7% and a 0.5% decrease in the post-tax
discount rate would increase the contingent
consideration by 0.7%.

A 10% increase in the expectation of achieving
revenue targets would increase the contingent
consideration by 5.95% and a 10% decrease in
the expectation of achieving revenue targets
would decrease the contingent consideration by
5.95%.

2024 2023
$ $
1,140,013 446,836
1,042,058 856,970
2,182,071 1,303,806

Performance obligations related to the consideration received in advance are expected to be fulfilled within 12 months.
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Note 23. Contract liabilities (continued)

Reconciliation of contract liabilities:
Opening balance

Acquisition via business combination
Revenue recognised during the year
Advance payments received

FX movement

Closing balance

Note 24. Issued capital

>

drdinary shares - fully paid

qyovements in ordinary share capital
(/aetails
:Ealance
rdinary shares issued
apital raising costs
gxercise of options (net-settled)

ransfer from share based payments expense to equity for

ptions exercised
ﬂxercise of options (net-settled)

ransfer from share based payments expense to equity for

ptions exercised
%:arcise of options (net-settled)

nsfer from share based payments expense to equity for

options exercised
L

Oalance

I I Exercise of options (cash)
xercise of options (net-settled)

Transfer from share based payments expense to equity for

options exercised
Ordinary shares issued
Ordinary shares issued
Capital raising costs

Shares issued for acquisition of subsidiaries (note 34)

Balance
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2024 2023

$ $
1,303,806 880,132
403,625 -
(7,657,269) (4,036,890)
8,162,660 4,460,564
(30,751) -
2,182,071 1,303,806

2024 2023 2024 2023

Shares Shares $ $
447,851,977 344,136,473 102,881,628 80,373,986

Date Shares $
1 July 2022 274,357,998 62,884,010
1 December 2022 68,589,498 $0.260 17,833,270
1 December 2022 - $0.000 (595,626)
5 April 2023 719,653 $0.000 -
5 April 2023 - $0.000 147,048
26 April 2023 435,736 $0.000 -
26 April 2023 - $0.000 98,032
19 May 2023 33,588 $0.000 -
19 May 2023 - $0.000 7,252
30 June 2023 344,136,473 80,373,986
19 October 2023 2,000,000 $0.180 360,000
19 October 2023 1,631,675 $0.000 -
19 October 2023 - $0.000 517,121
30 October 2023 53,361,959 $0.230 12,273,251
23 November 2023 33,580,292 $0.230 7,723,467
23 November 2023 - $0.000 (1,257,344)
6 December 2023 13,141,578 $0.220 2,891,147
30 June 2024 447,851,977 102,881,628
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Note 24. Issued capital (continued)

Exercise of options during the year

During the year in accordance with their terms 5,275,000 (2023: 2,575,000) fully vested options under the Employee Share
and Option Plan were exercised. Of these, 2,000,000 (2023: Nil) options were exercised at an option price of $0.18 and the
remaining 3,275,000 (2023: 2,575,000) were net settled. As a result, a total of 3,631,675 (2023: 1,188,977) new shares were
issued on exercise and net settlement. This results in a lower dilution of the issued capital of the Group on conversion. The
volume weighted average share prices at the respective dates of exercise for the financial year ended 30 June 2024 and 30
June 2023 are noted below:

Shares issued - 5 April 2023 - $0.35
Shares issued - 26 April 2023 - $0.32
Shares issued - 19 May 2023 - $0.33
Shares issued - 19 October 2023 - $0.31

Rights of each share type
zrdinary shares participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the parent entity in proportion to the numbers of
res held.

gt shareholders meetings each ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a poll is called.

Share buy-back
here is no current on-market share buy-back.

%hares reserved for issue under option

uring the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group issued 22,863,168 options over ordinary shares to A.C.N 002 889 545 Pty
. Ltd, a subsidiary of Sonic Healthcare Limited, at an exercise price of $0.33. These options have vested and have expired,
cBubsequently being cancelled on 2 June 2024.

Gapital risk management
he Group's objectives when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can provide
eturns for shareholders, benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimum capital structure to reduce the cost of
pital.

qpapital is regarded as total equity, as recognised in the statement of financial position, plus net debt. Net debt is calculated
Qtotal borrowings less cash and cash equivalents.

«_In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return
Oapital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

I IThe Group would consider raising capital when an opportunity to invest in a business or company was seen as value adding
relative to the current Company's share price at the time of the investment.

Note 25. Reserves

2024 2023
$ $
Foreign currency translation reserve 36,894 137,375
Share-based payments reserve 2,118,660 1,945,170

2,155,554 2,082,545

The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record the exchange differences arising on translation of a foreign entity.

The share-based payments reserve is used to record the fair value of the shares or options issued to employees. Refer to
note 26.
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Note 26. Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments

Employee option plan

The Group has approved an employee share and option plan titled the 'Microba Employee Share and Option Plan' (‘'ESOP")
designed to provide eligible persons with the opportunity to participate at the discretion of the Directors. The shares and
options issued under the plan are subject to vesting conditions and disposal restrictions. Options issued under the ESOP are

issued at a premium to the last share issuance price to align employee and shareholder interests.

Details of the options granted under the ESOP are provided below:

2024
Balance at Granted Exercised Forfeited Balance at
Exercise the start of during during during the end of
j\rant date Expiry date price the year the period the period the period the year
5/10/2018 15/10/2023 $0.180 4,400,000 - (4,400,000)
55/02/2019 15/10/2023 $0.180 400,000 - (400,000)
1/03/2019 15/10/2023 $0.180 75,000 - (75,000)
05/04/2019 15/10/2023 $0.180 400,000 - (400,000) - -
@5/ 11/2019 24/11/2024 $0.288 5,100,000 - (800,000) 4,300,000
3/01/2020 24/11/2024 $0.243 400,000 - - 400,000
%1/01/2020 24/11/2024 $0.288 200,000 - 200,000
0/06/2020 29/06/2024 $0.288 266,666 - - 266,666
01/04/2021 04/04/2026 $0.324 3,316,666 - (83,334) 3,233,332
5/04/2022 05/05/2025 $0.675 1,200,000 - - 1,200,000
8/07/2023 28/07/2027 $0.453 - 6,605,000 (460,000) 6,145,000
Q8/07/2023 28/07/2027 $0.638 - 4,000,000 - 4,000,000
98/12/2023 28/01/2027 $0.271 - 200,000 - 200,000
m 15,758,332 10,805,000 (5,275,000) (1,343,334) 19,944,998

LGptions granted to Directors and Employees under the ESOP are dependent upon the achievement of share price targets,
AGR in group revenue, and the successful achievement of significant milestones within therapeutic programs coupled with
ntinuous service to the Company, and are to equity-settled once exercisable. The average remaining contractual life of
qg'lions outstanding at period end is 1.17 years (2023: 1.35 years).

L
o Weighted Weighted
average average
I | Number of exercise Number of exercise
options price options price
2024 2024 2023 2023
Outstanding at the beginning of the financial year 15,758,332 $0.295 18,800,000 $0.280
Granted 10,805,000 $0.518 - $0.000
Forfeited (1,343,334) $0.346 (466,668) $0.326
Exercised (5,275,000) $0.180 (2,575,000) $0.180
Outstanding at the end of the financial year 19,944,998 $0.437 15,758,332 $0.295
Exercisable at the end of the financial year 8,399,986 $0.389 5,275,000 $0.180

At 30 June 2024, there are 8,399,986 (2023: 5,275,000) exercisable options, and Nil (2023: 10,483,332) options that are
escrowed under voluntary escrow agreements.
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Note 26. Share-based payments (continued)

There were no options granted during the year ended 30 June 2023. For the options granted during the current financial year,
the Black-Scholes valuation model inputs used to determine the fair value at the grant date, are as follows:

Share price Exercise Expected Dividend Risk-free Fair value
Grant date Expiry date at grant date price volatility yield interest rate at grant date
28/07/2023 28/07/2027 $0.325 $0.453 75.00% - 3.87% $0.160
28/07/2023 28/07/2027 $0.325 $0.638 75.00% - 3.87% $0.135
28/12/2023 28/01/2027 $0.180 $0.271 65.00% - 3.58% $0.060

Expenses recognised from share-based payment transactions

The expense recognised in relation to the share-based payment transactions was recognised within employee benefit expense
within the statement of profit or loss were as follows:

> 2024 2023

C ' '
thions issued under ESOP 690,611 420,992
Total expenses recognised from share-based payment transactions 690,611 420,992

Uijote 27. Financial risk management objectives and policies

jinancial risk management objectives
—The Group has various financial instruments such as cash and cash equivalents, cash on deposit, trade receivables, trade
Qayables, borrowings, lease liabilities, and contingent consideration payable which arise directly from its operations. It is, and
as been throughout the period under review, the Group's policy that no trading in financial instruments shall be undertaken.

sk, and liquidity risk. The Group's key management personnel oversee the management of these risks. The objective of the

ahe main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are market risk (interest rate risk & foreign currency risk), credit
anagement of these risks is to support the delivery of the Group's financial targets while protecting future financial security.

qjhe Group uses different methods to measure and manage different types of risks to which it is exposed, as outlined below.

QIarket risk

L . .
oreign currency risk

he Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currency and is exposed to foreign currency risk through
Ll_ﬁ)reign exchange rate fluctuations.

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised financial assets and financial liabilities
denominated in a currency that is not the entity's functional currency. The risk is measured using sensitivity analysis and cash
flow forecasting.

To protect against exchange rate movements, the Group monitors levels of foreign currency exposure and holds funds in
foreign currencies to cover highly probable forecasted foreign currency cashflows occurring within the next six months.
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Note 27. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

The carrying amount of the Group's foreign currency denominated financial assets and financial liabilities at the reporting date
were as follows:

Assets Liabilities
2024 2023 2024 2023
$ $ $ $
US dollars 726,584 2,286,425 54,396 772,225
Swiss francs 14,888 14,874 - 343,946
Euros 643,000 527,536 19,358 450
Canadian dollars - - 6,706 6,475
Pound Sterling 651,741 - 2,917 -
2,036,213 2,828,835 83,377 1,123,096

===Based on this exposure, had the Australian dollar strengthened or weakened by 10% against these foreign currencies, the
Empact on the loss on the Group would have been an increase/decrease of $325,827 (2023: $258,482) and a corresponding
O’mrease/decrease in equity of the same amount.

terest rate risk

he Group's main interest rate risk arises from cash and cash equivalents with floating interest rates. The Group's deposit
(féccounts are subject to fixed interest rates, repricing periodically. The Group's transactional bank accounts are predominantly
jon-interest bearing.

===AS at the reporting date, the Group had the following cash balances subject to interest income:

CG 2024 2023

C Weighted Weighted

(@) average average

m interest rate Balance interest rate Balance

it % $ % $

q.éash and cash equivalents - non-interest bearing - 2,790,559 - 3,295,360

%Jsh and cash equivalents - interest bearing 4.75% 13,883,892 3.05% 15,386,227
ash on deposit 4.72% 4,215,000 4.30% 12,220,668

S=Restricted cash - - - 1,141,619

Iqlxposure to interest rate risk on cash deposits 20,889,451 32,043,874

The premium funding facility held and drawn down by the Group is at a fixed interest rate of 2.69% (2023: 3.89%) for a term
of one year. Owing to the nature and duration of the borrowing, the Group does not consider the interest rate risk arising from
the arrangement to be material. The drawn amounts are expected to be repaid within the term and re-draw is subject to
managements discretion at the point of the renewal of insurance policies.

Refer to note 19 for additional disclosure relating to the Group's borrowings.

Due to the nature of the Group's interest exposure and the current market interest rates, a reasonable increase or decrease
in the interest rate of 0.5% to 1.0% would not result in a significant increase/decrease in the net loss and equity position of the
Group. Interest income earned on the Group's cash deposits was $1,004,728 (2023: $878,049) and interest expense was
$69,221 (2023: $60,412).

Management considers the interest rate risk to which the Group is exposed to be minimal and as such, does not enter into
interest rate swaps or other derivatives relating to interest rate exposure.
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Note 27. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date to recognised financial assets is the carrying amount, net of any
provisions for impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the statement of financial position and notes to the financial
statements. The Group does not hold any collateral.

Regular monitoring of receivables is undertaken to ensure that the credit exposure remains within the Group’s normal terms
of trade. Trade receivables will generally be written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery, based on
management's assessment.

The Group holds cash in current and savings accounts with various large and reputable financial institutions in Australia, USA
and Europe. The credit risk associated with these counterparties is considered negligible as these counterparties are reputable
banks with high quality external credit ratings.

ﬂe Parent has a policy of lending to its wholly owned subsidiaries, ensuring their continued operations, as required.

llowance for expected credit losses
anagement has determined that there is a minimal expected credit loss amount that was taken up during the financial year
$17,929 (2023: Nil).

qjhe ageing of the receivables held by the Group are as follows:

2024 2023
$ $
ot overdue 7,525,371 7,067,225
to 3 months overdue 559,422 168,975

8,084,793 7,236,200

onal us

ﬂistorically, the Group has not recognised any bad or doubtful debts in relation to receivables from contracts with customers.
herefore, expected credit loss at balance date is minimal.

CRiquidity risk
Vigilant liquidity risk management requires the Group to maintain sufficient liquid assets (mainly cash and cash equivalents)
=0 be able to pay debts as and when they become due and payable.

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves by continuously monitoring actual and forecast cash
LI-iIows.
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Note 27. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Remaining contractual maturities

The following tables detail the Group's remaining contractual maturity for its financial instrument liabilities. The tables have
been drawn up based on the earliest date on which the financial liabilities are required to be paid. The tables include the total
financial liability, consistent with the statement of financial position.

2024

Non-derivatives

Non-interest bearing

Trade and other payables
Contingent consideration payable

_>ln79rest-bearing - fixed rate

orrowings
ease liability
otal non-derivatives

:5023

on-derivatives
on-interest bearing

rade and other payables

ire purchase
ease liability
otal non-derivatives

%)terest—bearing - fixed rate

Remaining
Between 1 Between 2 contractual
1yearorless and2years and5years Over5years maturities
$ $ $ $ $
5,877,959 - - - 5,877,959
2,324,338 1,834,754 - - 4,159,092
395,387 - - - 395,387
810,134 158,816 214,268 - 1,183,218
9,407,818 1,993,570 214,268 - 11,615,656
Remaining
Between 1 Between 2 contractual
1yearorless and2years and5years Over5years maturities
$ $ $ $ $
4,985,348 - - - 4,985,348
358,726 - - - 358,726
543,002 227,583 6,481 - 777,066
5,887,076 227,583 6,481 - 6,121,140

QHe cash flows in the maturity analysis above are not expected to occur significantly earlier than contractually disclosed above.

L

Qair value of financial instruments
nless otherwise stated, the carrying amounts of financial instruments reflect their fair value.

LL
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Note 28. Reconciliation of loss after income tax to net cash used in operating activities

2024 2023
$ $
Loss after income tax (expense)/benefit for the year (19,938,485) (12,680,212)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation (non-cash) 2,870,274 1,641,831
Share-based payments (non-cash) 690,611 420,992
Loss on disposal of property, plant & equipment (non-cash) 2,852 21,074
Unwinding of capital portion of grants and subsidies received (non-cash) (84,416) (38,087)
Foreign currency differences (non-cash) (99,864) (140,014)
3,379,457 1,905,796
Increase in receivables (10,200) (3,813,682)
>n£rease in inventories (310,569) (284,394)
===lDdecrease/(increase) in prepayments 679,750 (146,858)
crease in payables 208,531 2,106,236
%crease in contract liabilities 474,640 423,674
crease in income tax payable 467 5,419
Increase in employee benefits 48,860 166,627
qﬁecrease in deferred taxes (83,102) -
qucrease in other operating liabilities (16,285) (76,433)

992,092 (1,619,411)

(15,566,936) (12,393,827)

ote 29. Non-cash investing and financing activities

2024 2023
$ $
dditions to the right-of-use assets 381,863 -
hares issued in relation to business combinations 2,891,147 -
hares issued on the exercise of options under ESOP 517,121 252,332
3,790,131 252,332

For pgarsonal u
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Note 30. Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

Balance at 1 July 2022

Net cash used in financing activities

Loans received

Acquisition of plant and equipment by means of leases
Interest expense

Balance at 30 June 2023
Net cash used in financing activities
Loans received

Xquisition of plant and equipment by means of leases
—=ACquisition of plant and equipment by means of business combinations (note

4)

terest expense

xchange differences
Gﬁalance at 30 June 2024

jote 31. Key management personnel disclosures

Insurance
Premium Lease
Funding Liability Total
$ $ $
337,477 961,067 1,298,544
(497,355) (591,840) (1,089,195)
479,270 - 479,270
- 363,836 363,836
16,097 44,003 60,100
335,489 777,066 1,112,555
(450,041) (815,713)  (1,265,754)
494,234 - 494,234
- 381,863 381,863
- 792,330 792,330
15,705 50,622 66,327
- (2,950) (2,950)
395,387 1,183,218 1,578,605

===Key management personnel include the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and the Directors of the Group, who
@ave the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group.

gompensation

he aggregate compensation made to Directors and other members of key management personnel of the Group is set out

U{)elow:
| -
)

%ort-term employee benefits

S=Rost-employment benefits
ng-term benefits

LLhare-based payments

2024 2023
$ $
1,032,680 1,015,250
54,567 51,242
13,677 10,778
331,403 196,454
1,432,327 1,273,724

Additional detail relating the compensation of key management personnel and Directors is included in the accompanying

Directors' Report.
Note 32. Related party transactions

Parent entity
Microba Life Sciences Limited is the parent entity.

Subsidiaries
Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 38.

Key management personnel

Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 31 and the remuneration report included in the Directors'

report.
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Microba Life Sciences Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

30 June 2024

Note 32. Related party transactions (continued)

Transactions with related parties

There were no transactions with related parties during the current and previous financial year, other than key management
personnel remuneration as disclosed in note 31.

Receivable from and payable to related parties
There were no trade receivables from or trade payables to related parties at the current and previous reporting date.

Loans to/from related parties
There were no loans to or from related parties at the current and previous reporting date.

Note 33. Remuneration of auditors

During the financial year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by Pitcher Partners, the auditor of the
Company, and its network firms:

2\ 2024 2023
- 5 $

Oudit services - Pitcher Partners

03Udit or review of the financial statements 131,314 91,000
ther services - Pitcher Partners
axation services 31,680 55,680
ther fees 2,381 12,569
CG 34,061 68,249
c 165,375 159,249
U?ther services - network firms
axation services 36,751 21,508
audit Fees 135,852 -
onsulting fees - due diligence services 163,132 -
335,735 21,508
L
(@) 335,735 21,508

I-I'Note 34. Business combinations

On 5 December 2023, the Company acquired 100% of the issued share capital in UK registered Invivo Clinical Limited
(Invivo) for a purchase price of $17,536,046. Invivo is a microbiome testing leader for healthcare professionals in the United
Kingdom. Invivo has established a base of over 1,700 active customers, and an engaged list of additional 5,800 prospective
customers. In addition to its leading position in Gastrointestinal microbiome testing services, Invivo has testing products
spanning Vaginal, Oral and Urinary testing, together with a targeted set of evidence-based intervention formulations.

The acquisition of Invivo aligns to Microba’s core testing services growth strategy in expanding internationally into high value
markets in a capital efficient manner. The United Kingdom is a key market in the next phase of Microba’s international testing
services growth strategy. Acquiring a market leading position, customer and geographical base in the United Kingdom,
together with Sonic Healthcare provides deep access to the entire UK healthcare market spanning private practice and the
public NHS environment.

The acquisition also includes contingent consideration of $8,576,002 subject to meeting key revenue targets for the first and
second year of operation under the ownership of the Company. Consequently, this amount has been assessed as purchase
consideration and has been included in the acquisition-date fair value of the total consideration transferred after discounting
and adjusting for managements’ estimates of the revenue targets being achieved.
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Microba Life Sciences Limited
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
30 June 2024

Note 34. Business combinations (continued)

The acquired business contributed revenue of $4,853,962 and a net loss after tax (NPAT) of $403,159 to the Group for the
period since acquisition on 5 December 2023 to 30 June 2024. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 July 2023, the contributed

revenue for the 12 months to 30 June 2024 would have been $8,528,018 and net loss after tax of $402,243.

There has been $1,005,740 of acquisition related costs incurred to date and expensed in Legal and intellectual property
advisory fees ($489,926), Consulting fees ($350,015) and Accounting fees included within Other expenses ($165,799).

As at 30 June 2024, the accounting for this business combination is provisional.

Details of the acquisition are as follows:

sh and cash equivalents
=—krade receivables

ther receivables
ventories
repayments

Furniture & Fittings
omputer Equipment

boratory Equipment
ight-of-use assets

ebsite
—meferred tax liability

rade Payables
gccrued expenses

eferred revenue

ease liability
%mployee Benefits

ease make good provision

qﬁet assets acquired

@odwill
ustomer Relationships
L._Brand

Qechnology
eferred Tax Liability on customer relationships and brand

LL

Acquisition-date fair value of the total consideration transferred

Representing:

Cash paid or payable to vendor

Microba Life Sciences Limited shares issued to vendor
Contingent consideration

Acquisition costs expensed to profit or loss

Cash used to acquire business, net of cash acquired:
Acquisition-date fair value of the total consideration transferred
Less: cash and cash equivalents

Less: contingent consideration

Less: shares issued by Company as part of consideration

Net cash used

Annual Report 2024

Fair value

$

892,702
240,978
168,162

1,288,564

93,348
27,155
38,522
127,735
704,641
40,517
(35,750)

(444,428)

(339,516)

(403,625)

(704,641)

(65,371)
(87,689)

1,541,304
8,496,766
2,090,203
4,452,695
2,590,803

(1,635,725)
17,536,046

10,462,829
2,891,147
4,182,070

17,536,046

1,005,740

17,536,046
(892,702)

(4,182,070)
(2,891,147)

9,570,127
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Microba Life Sciences Limited
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
30 June 2024

Note 34. Business combinations (continued)
No Contingent liabilities or guarantees existed at the acquisition date.

The fair value, and the gross amount, of the Trade receivables is $259,006 and it is expected that the full contractual amounts
will be collected apart from one debt that is considered doubtful with a value of $18,028.

The results of this operation form part of the testing services & supplements segment and are classified therein.
The total goodwill arising on acquisition is $8,496,766 which relates predominantly to the acquisition of key management,
specialised know-how of the workforce, key stakeholder relationships, competitive position and product & service offerings

that do not meet the recognition criteria as an intangible asset at the date of acquisition.

Note 35. Earnings per share

2024 2023
> \ \
Eoss after income tax attributable to the owners of Microba Life Sciences Limited (19,938,485) (12,680,212)
O Number Number
q-\)leighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic earnings per
(@hare 409,858,784 314,259,389
:aleighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating diluted earnings per

===share 409,858,784 314,259,389
C Cents Cents
Gasic earnings per share (4.86) (4.03)
Wiluted earnings per share (4.86) (4.03)
L

ue to the loss making position of the Group, the impact of options issued is non-dilutive and as such, has been excluded
om the calculation of earnings per share.

Note 36. Operating segments
o p g seg

Olentiﬁcation of reportable operating segments
The Group is organised into two (2) operating segments: Testing Services and Supplements, and Research & Development.
hese operating segments are based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by the Board of Directors (who are
identified as the Chief Operating Decision Maker ('CODM') in assessing performance and in determining the allocation of
resources. There is no aggregation of operating segments.

The CODM reviews the profit and loss before tax of the consolidated Group on a monthly basis. The accounting policies
adopted for internal reporting to the CODM are consistent with those adopted in the financial statements.

Major customers

During the year ended 30 June 2024 there were no significant customers from which 10% or more of the Group's external
revenue was derived.
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Microba Life Sciences Limited
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
30 June 2024

Note 36. Operating segments (continued)

Operating segment information
Segment profit and loss

2024

Revenue from contracts with external customers
Cost of sales
Gross profit

Subsidies and grant income
Interest income
ther income
——==0reign currency income

prenses

mployee benefits and other related costs
esearch and development expense
epreciation and amortisation expense
%ravel Expenses
onsulting fees
—Vlarketing and advertising expense
egal and intellectual property advisory fees
%nance costs
ther expenses
Ootal expenses

(Qoss before income tax benefit
L

q-l%come tax benefit

Loss after income tax

For
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Testing
Services Research &
& Supplements Development Unallocated Total

$ $ $ $
12,090,055 - - 12,090,055
(6,184,628) - - (6,184,628)
5,905,427 - - 5,905,427
7,500 5,758,708 - 5,766,208
- - 1,004,728 1,004,728
- - 51,543 51,543
- - 99,864 99,864
7,500 5,758,708 1,156,135 6,922,343
(4,145 429) (1,711,054) (5,760 872) (11,617,355)
(10,836,162) (10,836,162)
(2,411 627) (242,089) (216, 558) (2,870,274)
(283,441) (56,379) (221,543) (561,363)
(906,798) (51,876) (1,295,048) (2,253,722)
(545,395) (24,970) (215,980) (786,345)
(31, 994) (8,024) (693,072) (733,090)
- (69,221) (69,221)
(916,985) (162,157) (2,010,885) (3,090,027)
(9,241,669) (13,092,711) (10,483,179) (32,817,559)
(3,328,742) (7,334,003) (9,327,044) (19,989,789)
- - 51,304 51,304
(3,328,742) (7,334,003) (9,275,740) (19,938,485)
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Microba Life Sciences Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

30 June 2024

Note 36. Operating segments (continued)

2023

Revenue from contracts with external customers

Cost of sales
Gross profit

Subsidies and grant income
Interest income
Foreign currency gain

ﬁpenses
====Mployee benefits and other related costs
esearch and development expense
gepreciation and amortisation expense
onsulting fees
Marketing and advertising expense
egal and intellectual property advisory fees

inance costs
ther expenses
otal expenses

CGOSS before income tax
Q\come tax expense

(/Ross after income tax expense
L
(1. 8egment assets and liabilities

O

L

O

| | 2024
Total assets
Total liabilities
Additions to non-current assets
Additions to non-current assets via business
combination

2023

Total assets

Total liabilities

Additions to non-current assets
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Testing
Services Research &
& Supplements Development Unallocated Total
$ $ $ $
5,420,136 - - 5,420,136
(2,741,873) - - (2,741,873)
2,678,263 - - 2,678,263
91,700 6,275,588 - 6,367,288
- - 881,132 881,132
- - 367,547 367,547
91,700 6,275,588 1,248,679 7,615,967
(2,186,442) (1,664,336) (3,958,587) (7,809,365)
- (9,337,113) - (9,337,113)
(1,233,804) (217,901) (190,126) (1,641,831)
(209,526) (193,394) (586,924) (989,844)
(389,925) (23,324) (279,458) (692,707)
(25,479) (20,559) (99,746) (145,784)
- - (60,412) (60,412)
(379,361) (292,465) (1,619,917) (2,291,743)
(4,424,537) (11,749,092) (6,795,170) (22,968,799)
(1,654,574) (5,473,504) (5,546,491) (12,674,569)
- - (5,643) (5,643)
(1,654,574) (5,473,504) (5,552,134) (12,680,212)
Testing
Services Research &
& Supplements Development Unallocated Total
$ $ $ $
29,752,307 6,149,642 22,138,358 58,040,307
8,280,756 1,617,110 6,926,439 16,824,305
4,093,947 350,598 316,371 4,760,916
18,474,530 - 94,507 18,569,037
Testing
Services Research &
& Supplements Development Unallocated Total
$ $ $ $
6,541,413 7,256,862 33,154,758 46,953,033
2,930,270 3,173,078 2,275,849 8,379,197
3,118,808 170,468 111,451 3,400,727
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30 June 2024

Note 36. Operating segments (continued)

Geographical information

Australia

Europe

New Zealand

United Arab Emirates
United Kingdom
United States

Asia

ﬁgland
[=

QOte 37. Parent entity information

Revenue from external

Geographical non-current

qget out below is the supplementary information about the parent entity.

jtatement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
(Doss after income tax

@ther comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

G-'?otal comprehensive loss

For
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customers assets
2024 2023 2024 2023
$ $ $ $
4,204,298 3,161,571 7,227,470 4,372,153
1,771,263 1,082,185 - -
127,032 163,569 - -
662,344 456,708 - -
4,531,355 1,236 17,911,278 -
602,860 554,460 651,669 1,055,819
22,050 407 - -
168,853 - - -
12,090,055 5,420,136 25,790,417 5,427,972
Parent
2024 2023
$ $

(20,932,791) (12,621,128)

(20,932,791) (12,621,128)
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Microba Life Sciences Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
30 June 2024

Note 37. Parent entity information (continued)

Statement of financial position

%uarantees entered into by the parent entity in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries

Parent
2024 2023
$ $

Total current assets 42,816,874 39,196,645

Total non-current assets - -

Total assets 42,816,874 39,196,645

Total current liabilities 2,035,710 472,113

ﬂtal non-current liabilities 458,986 150,696

Eotal liabilities 2,494,696 622,809

Qet assets 40,322,178 38,573,836
q-Equity

(/) Issued capital 102,881,628 80,373,986

: Share-based payments reserve 2,118,660 1,945,170

Accumulated losses (64,678,110) (43,745,320)

('Uotal equity 40,322,178 38,573,836

he parent entity had no guarantees in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries as at 30 June 2024 and 30 June 2023.

L.Contingent liabilities

qjhe parent entity had no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2024 and 30 June 2023.

Qapita/ commitments - Property, plant and equipment
The parent entity had no capital commitments for property, plant and equipment as at 30 June 2024 and 30 June 2023.

L
Ooans to subsidiaries

The parent entity holds loans with its subsidiaries which cause the net assets of the parent entity to exceed the total equity of
e consolidated Group. Impairment losses have been recorded against the parent entity's loans receivable to reduce the

equity position of the parent entity to the consolidated equity of the Group.

Material accounting policy information

The accounting policies of the parent entity are consistent with those of the Group, as disclosed in note 2.
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Microba Life Sciences Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
30 June 2024

Note 38. Interests in subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in accordance
with the accounting policy described in note 2:

Ownership interest

Principal place of business / 2024 2023
Name Country of incorporation % %
Microba Pty Ltd
Incorporated 6 September 2019 Australia 100% 100%
Microba Services Pty Ltd
Incorporated 6 September 2019 Australia 100% 100%
Microba IP Pty Ltd
Incorporated 6 September 2019 Australia 100% 100%
Microba US, Inc.
jlgcorporated 14 January 2020 United States of America 100% 100%
—Microba UK Holdings Limited
corporated 16 October 2023 United Kingdom 100% -
%vivo Clinical Limited
corporated 27 March 2007 United Kingdom 100% -
Invivo Healthcare Limited
corporated 20 May 2019 United Kingdom 100% -

ote 39. Contingent liabilities

LSe

There were no contingent liabilities requiring disclosure in the financial report.

CQOte 40. Events after the reporting period

n

o matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2024 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the Group's
perations, the results of those operations, or the Group's state of affairs in future financial years.

—
&)
O
—
@

LL
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Microba Life Sciences Limited
Consolidated entity disclosure statement
As at 30 June 2024

Microba Life Sciences Limited is required by Australian Accounting Standards to prepare consolidated financial statements in
relation to the company and its controlled entities (the consolidated entity).

In accordance with subsection 295(3A) of the Corporations Act 2001, this consolidated entity disclosure statement provides
information about each entity that was part of the consolidated entity at the end of the financial year.

Entity name Entity type
Microba Life Sciences

Limited Body Corporate
Microba Pty Ltd Body Corporate
Microba Services Pty Ltd Body Corporate
Microba IP Pty Ltd Body Corporate
Microba US Inc Body Corporate

icroba UK Holdings
_>Ldi?nited Body Corporate

vivo Clinical Limited Body Corporate
vivo Healthcare Limited Body Corporate

Place formed /
Country of incorporation

Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
United States of America

United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom

Ownership
interest

%

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

Tax residency

Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
United States of America

United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom

At the end of the financial year, no entity within the consolidated entity was a trustee of a trust within the consolidated entity,

For personal use
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partner in a partnership within the consolidated entity, or a participant in a joint venture within the consolidated entity
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Microba Life Sciences Limited
Directors' declaration
30 June 2024

The Directors of the Company declare that:

e the attached financial statements and notes comply with the Corporations Act 2001, the Australian Accounting Standards,
the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting requirements;

e the attached financial statements and notes comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board as described in note 2 to the financial statements;

e the attached financial statements and notes give a true and fair view of the Group's financial position as at 30 June 2024
and of its performance for the financial year ended on that date;

e there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due
and payable; and

e the consolidated entity disclosure statements required by subsection 295(3A) of the Corporations Act 2001 is true and
correct.

Eﬁe Directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001.
%igned in accordance with a resolution of Directors made pursuant to section 295(5)(a) of the Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the Directors

0‘5’? D

CESasquale Rombola
irector

9 August 2024
risbane

For per
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PITCHER
PARTNERS

Level 38, 345 Queen Street
Brisbane, QLD 4000

Postal address
GPO Box 1144
Brisbane, QLD 4001

+61 7 3222 8444

pitcher.com.au

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Microba Life Sciences Limited

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report
Opinion

We have audited the financial report of Microba Life Sciences Limited (“the Company”) and its controlled
entities (“the Group”), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2024,
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
financial statements including material accounting policy information, the consolidated entity disclosure
statement and the directors’ declaration.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act
2001, including:

(a) giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2024 and of its financial
performance for the year then ended; and
(b)  complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of
the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards
Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) (“the
Code”) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been given
to the directors of the Company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the time of this
auditor’s report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit
of the financial report of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Brisbane Sydney Newcastle Melbourne Adelaide Perth @ bakertiu.y

Pitcher Partners is an association of independent firms.
An Independent Queensland Partnership ABN 84 797 724 539. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
Pitcher Partners is a member of the global network of Baker Tilly International Limited, the members of which are separate and independent legal entities.

NETWORK MEMBER
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Acquisition of Invivo Clinical Limited and its controlled entity

Refer to note 34

During the year, the Group acquired UK
incorporated entity Invivo Clinical Limited
(“Invivo”) and its controlled entity, for gross
purchase consideration of $17,536,046. This
acquisition has been accounted for as a
business combination.

Accounting for the purchase of Invivo is a key
audit matter due to the size of the acquisition.

In addition to the size of the acquisition,
estimation and judgement is required in order to
determine:

e the fair values of acquired assets and
liabilities,

e the allocation of purchase consideration
to goodwill and separately identifiable
intangible assets such as customer
relationships, brand name and
technology; and

o estimated contingent consideration.

Our procedures included:

Understanding and evaluating the design and
implementation of management’s processes and
controls over the acquisition;

Reviewing the purchase agreement to understand
key terms and conditions;

Evaluating the methodology used for the acquisition
accounting and allocation of purchase consideration
to goodwill and identifiable intangible assets against
accounting standard requirements;

Working with our valuation specialists, evaluating the
fair values of acquired assets, liabilities and
allocation of purchase consideration to goodwill and
separately identifiable intangible assets determined
by management’s expert by reviewing the valuation
models and comparing the inputs and discount rate
assumptions to market data, historic and current
company records and our knowledge of the group
and industry;

Evaluating and challenging the Group’s assumptions
of forecast future performance and probability factors
applied in determining estimated contingent
consideration; and

Assessing the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures
in respect of business acquisitions.

Impairment of goodwill
Refer to note 17

The consolidated statement of financial position
as at 30 June 2024 includes goodwill valued at
$8,450,080 which relates to the acquisition of
Invivo during the financial year.

The carrying amount of goodwill is supported by
management’s value-in-use calculation which is
based on board approved budgeted future cash
flows and key estimates such as the annual
growth rates, discount rate and terminal value
growth rate.

For personal use only

This is a key audit matter as the value of
goodwill material and the evaluation of the
recoverable amount requires significant
judgement in determining the key estimates to
support the value-in-use calculations.

Pitcher Partners is an association of independent firms.

Our procedures included:

Understanding and evaluating the design and
implementation of management’s processes and
controls over the assessment of impairment of
goodwill;

Assessing management’s determination of the
Group’s cash generating units (‘CGUs’) based on our
understanding of the nature of the Group’s business
and the identifiable groups of cash generating
assets;

Comparing the cashflow forecasts used in the value-
in-use calculations to Board approved budgets and
the Group’s historical performance;

Assessing the significant judgements and key
estimates used for the impairment assessment, in
particular, the annual growth rates, discount rate and
terminal value growth rate;

Checking the mathematical accuracy of the
impairment model and agreeing relevant data to
supporting documentation;

Performing a sensitivity analysis of management’s
value-in-use calculation; and

Assessing the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures.

An Independent Queensland Partnership ABN 84 797 724 539. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
Pitcher Partners is a member of the global network of Baker Tilly International Limited, the members of which are separate and independent legal entities.
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Research and Development Tax Incentive
Refer to notes 5 and 11

At 30 June 2024 the Group’s consolidated Our procedures included:

statement of financial position includes a

Research and Development (R&D) Tax Incentive e Obtaining an understanding of, and evaluating the

receivable of $5,993,291 and R&D Tax Incentive design and implementation of the controls

revenue of $5,758,649. associated with management’s assessment of
eligible R&D expenditure under the tax incentive

The Group receives refundable R&D tax scheme;

incentives from the Australian government which e Engaging our internal tax expert to:

represents 43.5 cents in each dollar of eligible o  Review the expenditure methodology employed

annual R&D expenditure, if its turnover is less by management for consistency with the R&D

than $20 million per annum. tax legislation; and

o  Consider the nature of the expenses against the
eligibility criteria of the R&D tax incentive
scheme to form a view about whether the
expenses included in the estimate were likely to
meet the eligibility criteria;

e Testing a sample of expenditure upon which the
claim is based, to underlying documentation, such
as invoices and payroll records;

e Inspecting copies of relevant correspondence with
Auslindustry and the ATO related to the claims; and

The Group has had multiple Overseas Advanced
Findings successfully approved by Ausindustry
relating to its immuno-oncology and IBD
therapeutic programs.

Management performed a detailed assessment
of the Group’s total R&D expenditure to estimate
the refundable R&D tax incentive receivable
under the R&D tax incentive legislation

This was considered a key audit matter due to » Assessing the appropriateness of the accounting
the size of the receivable and revenue entries and classification of the R&D tax incentive
recognised as well as the degree of judgement and financial statement disclosures, based on
and interpretation of the R&D tax legislation Australian Accounting Standards.

required to assess the eligibility of the R&D
expenditure under the scheme.

Other Information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2024, but does not include the financial
report and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Pitcher Partners is an association of independent firms.
An Independent Queensland Partnership ABN 84 797 724 539. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
Pitcher Partners is a member of the global network of Baker Tilly International Limited, the members of which are separate and independent legal entities.
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Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of:

(a) the financial report (other than the consolidated entity disclosure statement) that gives a true and fair
view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001; and
(b) the consolidated entity disclosure statement that is true and correct in accordance with the
Corporations Act 2001; and
(c) for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of:
(i) the financial report (other than the consolidated entity disclosure statement) that gives a true and
fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and
(i) the consolidated entity disclosure statement that is true and correct and is free of misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this
financial report.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

¢ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial report. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

For personal use only
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We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats
or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the financial report of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Report on the Remuneration Report

Opinion on the Remuneration Report

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in the directors’ report, pages 31 to 36 of the financial
report for the year ended 30 June 2024. In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Microba Life Sciences
Limited, for the year ended 30 June 2024, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.
Responsibilities

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration
Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an

opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing
Standards.
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PITGHER PARTNERS

HERYL MASON
Partner

Brisbane, Queensland
29 August 2024

Pitcher Partners is an association of independent firms.
An Independent Queensland Partnership ABN 84 797 724 539. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
Pitcher Partners is a member of the global network of Baker Tilly International Limited, the members of which are separate and independent legal entities.

Annual Report 2024 85



MICROBA

06

ASX Additional
Information

nnnnnnnnnnnnnnnn



Microba Life Sciences Limited

Shareholder information

30 June 2024

The shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 1 August 2024, unless otherwise stated.

Distribution of equitable securities
Analysis of number of equitable security holders by size of holding:

Ordinary shares

% of total

Number shares

of holders issued
1t0 1,000 25 0.01
1,001 to 5,000 381 0.24
5,001 to 10,000 173 0.30
10,001 to 100,000 533 4.74
100,001 and over 243 94.71
> 1,355 100.00
(Holding less than a marketable parcel 302 -

Qquity security holders

awenty largest quoted equity security holders
he names of the twenty largest security holders of quoted equity securities are listed below:

: Ordinary shares
— % of total
CG shares
C Number held issued
OCN 002 889 545 PTY LTD 85,736,872 19.14
SBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 53,132,410 11.86
A MICROBA HOLDINGS PTY LTD 33,480,799 7.48
BS NOMINEES PTY LTD 28,731,988 6.42
%OACROGEN INC 17,828,431 3.98
YSENHOLTZ PTY LTD 17,178,431 3.84
GENENIKA PTY LTD 17,100,000 3.82
>=€|TICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 16,770,637 3.74
@ELGRAVIA STRATEGIC EQUITIES PTY LTD 13,432,342 3.00
MR DON MAREE 11,545,742 2.58
INKGO BIOWORKS INC 10,886,385 2.43
ROMBOLA FAMILY PTY LTD 5,600,000 1.25
AUSTRALIAN DIRECT INVESTMENTS PTY LIMITED 3,838,412 0.86
UNIQUEST PTY LTD 3,424,643 0.76
RPMT INVESTMENTS PTY LTD 3,150,000 0.70
HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED - A/C 2 3,091,944 0.69
DERP ENTERPRISES PTY LTD 2,902,500 0.65
ADAM SKARSHEWSKI 2,900,000 0.65
ALENA RINKE & CHRISTIAN RINKE 2,900,000 0.65
TERRAFORD PTY LTD 2,536,411 0.57
336,167,947 75.07
Unquoted equity securities
Number Number
on issue of holders
Options over ordinary shares issued 19,944,998 29

Annual Report 2024 87



Microba Life Sciences Limited
Shareholder information
30 June 2024

Substantial holders
Substantial holders in the Company are set out below:

Sonic Healthcare Limited
Perennial Value Management
SA Microba Holdings Pty Ltd
Thorney Investment Group

Ordinary shares
% of total

Number held

85,736,872
64,140,168
33,480,799
29,962,423

shares
issued

19.14
14.32
7.48
6.69

Substantial holdings are based on the last notice for each holder lodged on the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX).

Voting rights
jﬁe voting rights attached to ordinary shares are set out below:

rdinary shares
n a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each share

all have one vote.

qjhere are no other classes of equity securities.

%estricted securities

cﬁlass Expiry date
@rdinary Shares 11 November 2024
drdinary Shares 6 December 2025
| -

qﬂhare buy-back

ere is currently no on-market share buy-back.
L
Gse of funds

LLSince admission, the Company used its cash consistent with its business objectives.
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